FINAL REPORT SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY GRAND JURY



2008-2009

COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO

GRAND JURY FINAL REPORT



2008-2009

EDITORIAL COMMITTEE



James Wilson, Tom Hale, Roger D. Trussell, Sandra Shahan, Patricia Swangel, Joyce P. Seeger



The Editorial Committee would like to acknowledge and thank the following individuals for their hard work and invaluable assistance in the preparation of the Final Report of the 2008-2009 San Bernardino County Grand Jury.

Graphic Arts
Silvia Schreiber, Graphic Designer
Cover Design
Silvia Schreiber, Graphic Designer
Photographs
Silvia Schreiber, Graphic Designer
Silvia Schreiber, Graphic Designer
County Printing Services Personnel
Typing/Preparation
Melonee Vartanian, Grand Jury Assistant

351 North Arrowhead Avenue, Room 200, Courthouse San Bernardino, CA 92415-0243 • (909) 387-3820 Fax (909) 387-4170



July 1, 2009

To James C. McGuire, Presiding Judge, and the Citizens of San Bernardino County:

On behalf of the Grand Jury, we are honored to have served the citizens of San Bernardino County during our 2008-2009 term. I would also like to express our appreciation for the many hours county employees spent providing us with tours of county facilities, and sharing with us information we needed to complete our investigations. While we cannot identify these individuals by name, we are proud that San Bernardino County employs so many competent and committed professionals.

2008-2009 was a year of great changes for the Grand Jury. The big change was after 75 years in the historic County Courthouse, the Grand Jury moved to another location while the Courthouse was being earthquake refitted. This mid-term relocation was facilitated by the outstanding cooperation of the Board of Supervisors, Presiding Judge James C. McGuire, and the hard work and planning of Melonee Vartanian, our full-time Grand Jury Assistant, and county staff.

Traditionally San Bernardino County Grand Juries change personnel every June 30th. Consequently, each new jury has to organize themselves, and can go about their business in different ways and study different problems. *Therefore, each new Grand Jury must start from scratch and cannot assume an investigation of its prior Grand Jury without initiating a completely new investigation*. Also each new Grand Jury defines to what degree it remains an independent body and fortunately, each new Grand Jury then creates itself in its own image.

Any private citizen, city/county official, or city/county employee may present a complaint in writing to the Grand Jury. Any request for an investigation must include detailed evidence supporting the complaint. If the Jury believes that the evidence submitted is sufficient, a detailed investigation is made. A Complaints Committee, with the assistance of the Grand Jury's full-time legal advisor from the District Attorney's Office, conducts the initial investigation of the complaint and makes recommendations for the disposition to the various committees of the Grand Jury. Some complaints develop into full-scale Grand Jury investigations. In all instances, the Grand Jury acts as a court of last chance for complaints, with some assurance to the petitioner that they had a proper day in court.

A major concern of the Grand Jury and citizens of our County is the apparent lack of ethical conduct by some former elected officials and their staff. This is the exception rather than the norm, but unfortunately, one or two bad apples can spoil the whole barrel, and that is what has happened. One respected government watch dog committee has likened politics in San Bernardino County to the "Wild West" where money can buy anything. This attitude of "anything goes" by a few needs to be changed.

The Board of Supervisors has publicly expressed an interest in creating an Ethics Commission for the County. However, the Board has put that issue on a back burner because allegedly, due to current budgetary reductions, they apparently cannot afford an Ethics Commission at this time. Unfortunately, for the past five years, the Board has expended several million dollars to various lawyers to investigate several ethics violations and accomplish the very thing that a well financed Ethics Commission would do. In an attempt to correct some of these concerns, the Grand Jury is making several positive recommendations in a special Government Reform Section of this report.

It has also been suggested by some officials, that we have a ready-made Ethics Commission in the Grand Jury. After all it has been vetted and selected by a panel of Superior Court Judges and is an ideal non-political body for this task. Unfortunately, California State Penal Codes required that the Grand Jury must operate in secrecy and confidentiality, and any Ethics Commission has to operate completely in the open to have credibility.

Some of the above listed issues and many others on which the 2008-2009 Grand Jury has focused are long-term and complicated. Consequently, they will require further work from future grand juries, especially the ethics concerns. The Grand Jury also participated in the Logic and Accuracy Board which oversaw the November 2008 General Election. Sample machines and results were tested and certified prior to the election. Grand Jury members also observed the collection and counting of votes on election night. The Registrar of Voters and her staff worked very hard and efficiently. The Grand Jury did not observe any irregularities.

I wish to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to the current members of the 2009-2008 Grand Jury for their efforts and for their commitment. I wish also to thank Melonee Vartanian, Grand Jury Assistant and Charlie Umeda/DDA, Legal Counsel for the Grand Jury. These two individuals' sense of history and continuity—as well as their tolerance of those of us who are still learning the process—has facilitated the work of this and previous Grand Juries, and we owe both a profound debt of gratitude.

And thank you, Judge McGuire, for the opportunity to serve our great County of San Bernardino.

Sincerely,

BURRELS. WOODRING, Foreman

2008-2009 San Bernardino County Grand Jury

2008-2009 GRAND JURY SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Burrel Woodring

Foreman

Tom Hale

♦ Foreman Pro Tem

Joyce P. Seeger ♦ Secretary

Ken Taylor

Assistant Sergeant-at-Arms

Becki Hernandez-Powell \diamond Lake Arrowhead

Rod Rupp♦Rancho CucamongaJohn R. Saathoff♦Rancho CucamongaJoyce P. Seeger♦San BernardinoSandra Shahan♦Rancho CucamongaDr. Harry Stavros♦Loma Linda

Patricia Swangel

Ken Taylor

Running Springs

Roger D. Trussell

Hesperia

Victorville

James Wilson ♦ Victorville
Burrel Woodring ♦ Yucaipa

Grand Jury Assistant

Melonee A. Vartanian

2008-2009 GRAND JURY SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY



Front row:

Becki Hernandez-Powell, Joyce P. Seeger, Jan Flammang, Sandra Shahan, Patricia Swangel

Middle row:

Burrel Woodring (Foreman), Rod Rupp, Ron Brooks, Dr. Peter Bulza, Roger D. Trussell, Dr. Izar Martinez, Robert Romero, James Wilson

Back row:

John R. Saathoff, Samuel Ferry, Dr. Harry Stavros, Franklin J. Browning, Ken Taylor, Tom Hale



Melonee A. Vartanian *Grand Jury Assistant*



Judge James C. McGuire Presiding Judge



Charlie Umeda Legal Advisor

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2008-2009 GRAND JURY FINAL REPORT

	<u>Page</u>
ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE	1
Public Health Department	2
AUDIT/FISCAL COMMITTEE	8
Assessor's Office	9
Auditor/Controller-Recorder	14
Historical Archives	14
Internal Audits	16
COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE	19
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE	20
Economic Development Agency	21
Redevelopment Agency	23
HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE	25
Elder Abuse	26
Homeless	27
Homeless Advocate	27
Homeless Continuum of Care	28

	Page
LAW AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE	31
Probation Department	33
High Desert Juvenile Detention and Assessment Center	36
Public Defender	39
Sheriff-Coroner	40
Jail Facilities	40
 Adelanto Detention Center 	40
Barstow Station	41
Big Bear Station	42
 Colorado River Station 	43
Glen Helen Regional Center	44
Morongo Station	45
San Bernardino Courthouse Holding Cell	47
Twin Peaks Station	49
 Victor Valley Station 	49
 West Valley Detention Center 	50
PUBLIC AND SUPPORT SERVICES COMMITTEE	52
Airports	53
Arrowhead Regional Medical Center	56
Facilities Management	57
Joshua Basin Water District (Interim Report)	59
AD HOC COMMITTEE	61
West Valley Detention Center Power Outage (Interim Report)	61
COVEDNMENTAL DEPODA	
GOVERNMENTAL REFORM	63
Board of Supervisors	64
Form 700	65
Campaign Contributions	67
Ethics Commission 1200 Acres/Surplus Land	69 71
1200 ACTES/SUIDIUS LAIIG	/ I

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE



ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:

Rod Rupp, Dr. Peter Bulza, Sandra Shahan, Becki Hernandez-Powell, Dr. Izar Martinez, Ron Brooks

Back row le t to rig t:

Patricia Swangel, Franklin J. Browning, John R. Saathoff, Robert Romero, Samuel Ferry

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE

The Administrative Committee had the responsibility for investigating the following County departments and/or agencies:

Board of Supervisors Clerk of the Board County Administrative Office County Counsel Human Resources Information Services Department Purchasing Department Risk Management Department Arrowhead Regional Medical Center Department of Behavioral Health Public Health Department Local Agency Formation Commission Superintendent of Schools

Initially the Administrative Committee was assigned responsibility for, and initiated investigative procedures of, the Arrowhead Regional Medical Center and Ethics Compliance in the County. Also, two committee members attended all Board of Supervisors regularly scheduled meetings and reported Board proceedings to the Grand Jury at its regularly scheduled Thursday meetings. The reports on the Arrowhead Regional Medical Center, the Board of Supervisors, and Ethics are contained in the Public Support and Services and Governmental Review sections of this report respectively.

The Administrative Committee received a complaint from a former employee of the County and subsequently conducted a comprehensive investigation of the Department of Public Health. The findings and recommendations relative to the investigation are contained in this report.

Individually and collectively, the members of the Administrative Committee extend a most sincere expression of appreciation to all those individuals in the respective departments investigated for their cooperation and support during the past year.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH (DPH)

BACKGROUND

In August 2008, the Board of Supervisors forwarded a complaint letter from Dr. Maury Manliguis, former Medical Health Officer of San Bernardino County (SBC), to the Grand Jury. The assertions in this letter criticized many aspects of the Department of Public Health (DPH). In the following eight months, the Grand Jury examined documents and interviewed many witnesses. (See Attachment A - Dr. Maury Manliguis' Letter to the BOS)

An extensive investigation was done into the education and experience requirements for the Director of Public Health position, both in San Bernardino County and in surrounding counties. (See Attachment B & C - San Bernardino County Job Description & Counties Comparisons)

Dr. Manliguis' allegations refer to the following issues:

- 1. Incompetence of employees which endangers the Department's infrastructure and the public at large
- 2. Lack of experience among current administrators of DPH
- 3. Abrupt implementation of the Integration/Reorganization project

ALLEGATION FINDINGS

1. Health and Safety Code Section 121361 prohibits a health facility, local detention facility, or state correctional institution from discharging a person known or reasonably believed to have tuberculosis before the discharge is approved and a treatment plan is reviewed by the local health officer.

The SBC Medical Health Officer on Friday, August 1, 2008, was Dr. Manliguis. At 2:45 p.m. that day, the Human Resources Officer (HRO) required Dr. Manliguis to sign an interoffice memorandum issued by the Director of Public Health. This memorandum informed him that he was being "relieved of his normally assigned duties" and was being placed on paid administrative leave effective immediately.

That interoffice memo specified Dr. Manliguis' work hours as follows: "Your work hours are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding one (1) hour for lunch from 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m. You are to report in each morning by 8:00 a.m. to [name] the Human Resources Officer at [number]. Any exception to this schedule must be cleared through [name]. While on paid administrative leave, you

are to be available to report to work and be reachable by telephone by the Department." The memo also stated that he could not have any contact and/or enter the County facility without first obtaining permission from the Human Resources Officer.

In addition, at that time, the Human Resources Officer required Dr. Manliguis to surrender his ID Badge, Deputy Health Officer Badge, and his Blackberry. Not until Monday, August 4, 2008, at 3:24 p.m. was Dr. Ryan Zane designated as the Interim Health Officer.

The interoffice memo that outlined Dr. Manliguis' work hours failed specifically to direct him to be available outside the 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. work hours in order to fulfill his duties required by Health and Safety Code Section 121361. As a result of this omission, there was uncertainty within the DPH for approximately 72 hours as to who within the Department was designated to fulfill the duties mandated by statute.

2. According to the *Health Officer Practice Guide for Communicable Disease Control* in California, "Law enforcement agencies such as the Sheriff's office or the local police department enforce Health Officer orders because Health Officers do not have Peace Officer status. Peace Officers have the broadest authority to effectuate an arrest, and are protected in their use of reasonable force to do so. Therefore, criminal enforcement requires local law enforcement involvement and may also include the District Attorney and Probation Department. Furthermore, the enforcement of civil orders for detention, isolation or quarantine of individuals will likely be conducted with the assistance from law enforcement."

An incident occurred in Needles, California, on August 30, 2008, Labor Day weekend, that required the coordination of effort between the Department of Public Health and the Sheriff's Department. Despite repeated warnings by the DPH, a tuberculosis patient was disobeying a Department of Public Health order regarding his medication and quarantine. As a result, the Health Officer decided to enforce the order by transporting the patient to the Arrowhead Regional Medical Center for treatment and evaluation. Efforts by the Department of Public Health to obtain assistance from the Sheriff's Department were hampered by poor communication and coordination by DPH.

San Bernardino County has no policies or procedures manual in place for the enforcement of civil orders for detention, isolation, or quarantine of individuals.

3. The Grand Jury reviewed the educational and work experience of the current administrators within the DPH. These positions included the Director of Public Health, Assistant Director, Director of Nursing, and the Chief Medical Health Officer. None of the top DPH administrators had extensive experience in the field of Public Health.

When he was hired, the Director had earned a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and a Master's Degree in Public Administration (MPA) from California State University, San Bernardino. He was the San Bernardino County's Director of Purchasing for one year and had worked for one year as a legislative analyst for the Board of Supervisors. He had also been Director of Education at Barstow Community College and an adjunct instructor at a variety of colleges. Presently, he is working on his Doctorate in Public Administration. He had no experience in Public Health prior to his present position.

The Assistant Director had earned an Associate of Science Degree in Respiratory Therapy from Crafton Hills Community College. She obtained her Bachelor of Science Degree in health care administration from Rochville University, a non-traditional program. Currently she is working on her second Bachelor's Degree in organizational leadership from La Verne College. She had been the Director of Respiratory Services of Arrowhead Regional Medical Center for two years.

The Director of Nursing has been a registered nurse since 1979. She moved to California in 1985. She earned a Bachelor's Degree in nursing in 1998 and a Master's Degree in nursing in 1999. Her Bachelor's Degree included a Public Health Certificate, in addition to her nursing license. She is presently in a graduate program to obtain a degree in clinical psychology.

The Chief Medical Officer has a medical degree, specializing in obstetrics/gynecology. He had some foreign experience with Africa World Health.

Neighboring counties require that their Directors/Medical Officers have advanced education in the area of Public Health. When this investigation was started, San Bernardino County had no such qualifications for the Director/Medical Officer. (See Attachment B & C - San Bernardino County Job Description & Counties Comparisons)

- 4. Multi-funded grants provide a portion of the DPH's clinical program budget. However, clinic staff was arbitrarily re-assigned with no regard to funding sources or required grant criteria. At one administrative meeting, the program directors decided how many and which nurses would be re-assigned. The following week, however, that agreed-upon arrangement was changed by administrators without notifying or consulting the staff. Program managers were concerned that grant criteria were not being respected in these changes, resulting in the possible loss of funding.
- 5. San Bernardino County policy requires that all employees be treated with respect and dignity in order to maintain and promote faith and confidence of the people in their government.

A limited number of DPH employees involved in the reorganization and integration of the clinical departments described negative incidents involving the Director of Public Health. They felt intimidated and perceived some comments as a threat to their employment. This undermined employee morale and made staff reluctant to voice dissenting viewpoints. The Grand Jury made no determination whether or not such conduct was pervasive throughout the DPH.

6. Although change is inevitable in any new administration, the new Director of Public Health stated at one of his first staff meetings that he intended to "fix a broken department...I have been fixing organizations for 20 years and I am here to fix you." Testimony indicated that this director and other administrators were not willing to listen to the expertise and opinions of the DPH staff. Some staff members were threatened with termination. Several DPH employees reported comments and incidents involving upper administrators which ranged from veiled to overt hostility.

OTHER FINDINGS

- 7. Human Resources Supervisor's Guide requires that "work performance evaluations be completed by the immediate supervisor. No change shall be made except for appeals or by mutual consent of the parties."
 - On July 3, 2008, Dr. Manliguis, as immediate supervisor, evaluated Employee X. The evaluation was signed by both parties, a copy was given to the employee and the original was placed in the employee's personnel file. However, within one week, Employee X told Dr. Manliguis that his evaluation had been changed by someone else, and a new, less positive evaluation had been substituted in his file without Dr. Manligius' knowledge or approval. The employee hesitated to complain because he believed his job was in peril. Human Resources (HR) policy prohibits any changes after the employee has signed an evaluation, and no appeals process was initiated. This action is against San Bernardino County HR personnel rules.
- 8. The salary comparison between San Bernardino County and neighboring counties shows a significant discrepancy. (See Attachment B & C San Bernardino County Job Description & Counties Comparisons)
- 9. The San Bernardino County Department of Public Health Mission Statement states that its institutional goal is "to satisfy our customers by providing community and preventive health services that promote and improve the health, safety, well being, and quality of life of San Bernardino County residents and visitors." That mission statement is commendable because the County of San Bernardino covers an area of 20,052.50 square miles and has a population in excess of 2 million residents who depend on the DPH for services and protection. That institutional goal is shared by other non-profit organizations which also provide public health services within the County.

The San Bernardino County Department of Public Health has worked diligently to provide better, more efficient health care with the institution of an "Integration"

program throughout the County. This program provides the opportunity for a number of medical services to be available under one roof. The County's Holt Clinic in Ontario is presently operating under the new program. A similar clinic, the H Street Clinic in the City of San Bernardino, is operated by a non-profit organization and has experience with the "Integration" approach the DPH is hoping to establish. Also, the H Street Clinic owns and operates the \$6,000 fiber optic machine, the only colposcope instrument in the County. This instrument is used in anoscopy procedures. However, the DPH chooses to send its clients to a Palm Springs facility for that screening.

During the investigation, the Grand Jury found a lack of dialogue and collaboration between DPH and the H Street Clinic. The leaders of DPH and the H Street Clinic were unable to agree on the issues which prevented a more collaborative relationship. Because the investigation was limited to only one non-profit organization, the Grand Jury did not determine whether or not the problems extend to relationships between DPH and other nonprofit organizations which provide health services.

The Department of Public Health is in a position to expand the availability of health services to County residents by assisting other county health nonprofit organizations to improve their programs.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-01 Ensure coverage of mandated duties by requiring the Director of Public Health to familiarize him/herself with the duties, requirements, and work hours of the clinical position affected and consult with the Human Resources Officer to ensure coverage for duties mandated by regulation or statute before disciplinary action is taken. (Finding 1)
- O9-02 Create a written policy statement that outlines procedures, duties, and responsibilities of various departments in the enforcement of a civil order for the detention, isolation, and quarantine of individuals infected with communicable diseases. (Finding 2)
- 09-03 Require that the Director of Public Health have the following minimum qualifications:
 - Masters Degree in Public Health, Health Administration, Public Administration, or closely related field. (Finding 3)

or

• Two years of experience as an administrator in charge of a County or City Public Health Program or two years as an assistant administrator of a hospital, or five years experience as the top manager of a significant community-based or non-profit organization. (Finding 3)

- 09-04 Require that the Chief Medical Officer of Public Health have the following minimum qualifications:
 - California State Physician and Surgeon's Certification authorized by the Board of Medical Examiners of the State of California.
 - Masters Degree in Public Health, Health Administration, Public Administration, or closely related field.
 - Certification from the American Board of Preventive Medicine.
 - At least one year of experience in an administrative capacity. (Finding 3)
- O9-05 Increase availability of public health services to the community by establishing collaborative and cooperative working relations with non-profit health service organizations. (Finding 9)

To: The San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors
San Bernardino County Government Center
385 N Arrowhead Ave,
Fifth Floor
San Bernardino, CA 92415-0110

Office: 909-387-4565 Fax: 909-387-5392

RE: Concerns Regarding the Public Health Department

Dear Board of Supervisors:

I am writing this letter to you out of deep concern and sincere passion for the department of public health for whom I have been the Acting Health Officer since the resignation of Dr. Margaret Beed. Prior to assuming this role I was the Deputy Health Officer, Chief Medical Officer, Chief of Disease Control and Prevention, the Tuberculosis Controller, and Clinic Physician with the department. Needless to say, I spent much of my time becoming intimately familiar with the many areas in which my programs, personnel, and inner workings of the department at ALL levels function. Thus, I believe it places me in a very good position to express my concerns and thoughts to you.

I would like to outline my greatest concerns, which I would ask be considered and taken seriously by you as you oversee the county and all its departments. I do understand that being in the positions you are in, you must rely on others within the multitude of departments within the county to keep you informed of the activities, issues, and concerns that may arise. To that end, I believe it is my duty to carry out my job in such a manner.

1) I am first and foremost concerned with the competency of the current administration in directing the department of public health.

Coming from a public health background and training in preventive medicine I have been left wondering how it is that the entire public health administration has been selected and placed into the executive positions.

- None of these people have any public health training and it also appears that they have a very limited interest in learning about and understanding the foundation, principles and vision upon which public health is founded.
- While they are proceeding with a (required???) community assessment process, there has been no discussion or plans to include Public Health Department program staff in the process.

- 2) In my dealings with my fellow administrators I have concluded that they are not qualified for these positions, but have also created situations that may be damaging to the department's infrastructure and the public at large.
 - Our administration has fostered a hostile work environment of intimidation, bullying, and manipulation which has been reported to me by a number of staff; Furthermore, they consistently behave in ways that shift responsibility in order to place blame. These actions have caused my staff to feel they have no recourse to voice their concerns without being dismissed and targeted unnecessarily.
 - The administration has been observed on a regular basis to wield their authority with a heavy hand. And as I have overheard in administrative meetings, "[that they] will make changes just because they are in a position to do so ...to keep people from becoming too comfortable."
 - Also witnessed among our leadership are poor administrative and interpersonal skills with constant badgering and poor communication to the programs. People often times become confused because they are directed to carry out orders only to be told to do something in contradiction by another administrator. Bullying, manipulation, deception, and isolation round out a common theme. The hostile work environment is fed by the arrogance our leadership portrays in thinking they are always correct, and that our staff with years of training and experience knows no better. To exacerbate matters several other agencies, and community groups and organizations have expressed their concerns to me over our administration's ability to do their jobs.

3) I am concerned with the administrative staff involved with the integration / reorganization project.

As of this writing they have been placed in charge of what has been termed the "Clinic Integration and Reorganization" project, which, in a nutshell, is to try to provide clinic services from many of our public health programs at each individual clinic site. I do like the idea. However, the administrative staff has proven to be difficult to work with and their decisions have had an adverse impact on the public health programs.

- On a number of occasions, they, I and our programs have reached agreements related to helping clinic operations move forward. Subsequent to our agreements, they have frequently changed their minds without any additional discussions. This has created unnecessary stress and havoc on staff and program operations that are left to figure out the problems this creates. Inevitably, their decisions benefit only the "Clinic Operations" programs without regard for the department as a whole. I have discussed this specific concern on several occasions with the department leadership and have received no support or recognition of the problems that are being created only to be told that our programs should stop resisting.
- I have a deep concern about a Public Health Officer's recommendations being disregarded without consideration thereby placing our County's constituent's health in jeopardy by damaging and neglecting the public health programs.

4) I am greatly concerned about the hiring practices by the department administrators.

I must say that the former health officer was an advocate for public health and was actively pursuing her Master of Public Health degree, for which she should be commended. The health officer's departure was sudden and unexpected, creating the vacancy in which I am currently assigned.

- It would be prudent and beneficial to the department to have leaders with at least a background in Public Health to avoid the appearance of indifference to the community and county at large. Their understanding of public health is critical to carrying out the duties of the department.
- I have witnessed a disregard for the community-based components and vision for which public health was created. In addition, it also appears that they have no interest in learning about or recognizing these critical elements of public health. They have consistently marginalized the input of the Health Officers and their skilled and seasoned public health staff. Their focus has been solely on the clinic integration and reengineering project, which has some merit but is being developed to the exclusion and erosion of other public health programs. This does not seem to fall in line with the "Service FIRST" goals of the county.
- In several administrative and supervisory positions within the department you will find that the positions have been assigned to person lacking the minimum requirements as required human resources job descriptions. If these persons had applied through the regular channels they would never have qualified to test.

5) Look further...

I would ask that you not take my words at face value but encourage you to charge the grand-jury with investigating the questionable actions of the administration of the department. I further encourage investigators to speak to our current program managers, program coordinators, public health nurses, clinic staff, and other employees regarding the happenings and concerns within the department of public health. You may be surprised at what everyone has to say. Morale is at its lowest, people are leaving **en masse**, and this will continue to occur until something is done to address these problems leaving the department not only in a shambles but also without qualified and experienced personnel.

In Summary:

- I recommend that a county wide, if not state-wide or nation-wide search be done to find *qualified* people who will be more suited to run the public health department.
- Finally, I would ask that the <u>grand jury</u> be brought in to question ALL current and former public health employees at all levels in order to determine whether or not a great problem or problems exist. In the end, the only reason the department hasn't fallen completely is because of the strength of the managers and employees who are compassionate about Public Health and willing to put up with this chaos in order to protect it.

I sincerely hope that you will do the right thing and investigate this further. What I have presented is only the tip of the iceberg. For the sake of our public's health, our employees, and the county's reputation I ask you to take my concerns seriously. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

Maury Manligius, DO, MPH, MS

Acting Health Officer / Chief Public Health Medical Officer

351 N. Mountain View Ave San Bernardino, CA 92415

Office: 909-387-6218 Fax: 909-387-6228

ATTACHMENT B



DEPARTMENTS AND PROGRAMS

SERVICES



I ≡ E-Mail Upd







County of San Bernardino Human Resources Department

HR Home Page

HIR Site Map

Seanth HR

Frequently Asked Questions

Employment and Classification

Employment Opportunities

Chassilication/Compensation

Information and Services

Renews

Community Services

Disability Management

Services (EHaP)

Ennekoy ment

Employee Retations

Equal Employment Орумившийу

Occupational Medicine Services (The Center)

Westen Region Dem Bank 🚨

Job Descriptions

NEOGOV

Class Title: Public Health Director

Class Code: 08048

Salary: \$76.75 - \$76.75 hourly

\$6,139.92 - \$6,139.92 biweekly \$13,303.17 - \$13,303.17 monthly \$159,638.00 - \$159,638.00 annually

Print Job Information

Email me when jobs like this become available

Description

Benefits

Under general administrative direction, plan, develop and administer a county-wide public health program; perform related duties as required.

Distinguishing Characteristics:

This is a single position class characterized by responsibility to formulate and direct a comprehensive public health program in accordance with health laws and the needs of the community. This position also has administrative oversight over the County Health Officer. This position is distinguished from County Health Officer by the latter's responsibility for medical decisions and its authority under the government code to enforce all health laws in the unincorporated areas of the County and to take any necessary preventive measures during emergency/disaster situations. The Public Health Director reports to the Assistant County Administrator -Human Services System.

Examples of Duties:

Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- 1. Plan, organize, and direct the activities of the Public Health Department, including program, fiscal, personnel, and other administrative functions; establish and direct the implementation of policies and procedures; ensure compliance with all applicable health laws.
- 2. Develop and administer public health services and programs related to: controlling and preventing disease; providing health education programs; enforcement of health and animal control regulations; recording of vital statistics; providing primary medical care services for those unable to obtain adequate health care; coordinating and organizing emergency and disaster medical services; and providing laboratory services.
- 3. Manage a large, multi-discipline staff through subordinates; review and approve personnel actions; evaluate subordinate staff.
- 4. Direct the planning, development and administration of the department's fiscal operations.
- 5. Maintain liaison and coordinate the work of the department with federal, state and local health agencies, County officials, affected departments, and community organizations: represent the County at conferences and meetings.
- 6. Make presentations to the Board of Supervisors, other governmental entities, and community organizations as required.
- 7. Prepare correspondence and reports.
- 8. Provide vacation and temporary relief as required.

Representation Unit:

Exempt

Supplemental Information:

Position is in the Unclassified Service.

JavaScript DHTML Menu Powered by Milonic

A COMPARISON OF SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FIVE SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA COUNTIES OF PUPLIC HEALTH DIRECTORS IN SOUTHERN

September 16, 2008

COUNTY

	San Bernardino	Riverside	Orange	San Diego	Los Angles
Salary	\$159,638	\$135,052-\$206,794	\$223,000 -	\$160,160 -	None Listed
			\$245,000	\$245,440	
Qualifications	No specific	Knowledge of:	Knowledge of	Knowledge of	No specific
,	qualifications are	Principles and methods	management and	policy/procedures	qualifications are
	listed in the Joh	of administration and	organization necessary	development and	listed Only
		management; standards	to plan, develop,	implementation related to a	usica. Omy
	Description. (see	of medical service;	implement, coordinate	variety of health and	examples of duties
	attachment)	budgetary planning and	and evaluate the	human services/programs	are indicated.
		fiscal control.	organization, programs	that protect and promote	
		Personnel management.	and activities of a	public health.	
		Two years of	multifunction agency.		
		experience as an			,
		administrator in charge			
	-	of a county or City			
	_	Public Health Program,			
		or two years as			
		assistant administrator			
		of a hospital			
Education/Training	No specific	Graduation from an	Five (5) options are	Examples of	Certification by the
	educational	accredited college	listed. In all five	qualifying	American Board of
	qualifications are	or university with a	options the	educational/experience	Preventive

	specified in the Job	Master's Degree in	applicant must	are: Extensive	Medicine and two
	Description. (See	Public Health,	have considerable	experience at an	years experience in
		Health	education in	executive and/or	a highly
Education/Training		Administration,	medical and/or	management level	responsible
continued:		Public	health field with at	providing specialized	management
		Administration or	least three years	health and/or human	capacity directing a
		related field.	experience and	services for a large	variety of public
			licensed in the	public agency. Highly	health services in a
			State of California.	desirable – A medical	metropolitan
				(M.D.) or doctoral	setting.
				(Ph.D.) degree from	
				an accredited college	
				or university in a	•
				related clinical or	
				public health	
				discipline with	
				appropriate licensure.	
				California State	
				Physician and	
				Surgeon's	•
				Certification	•
				authorized by the	
				Board of Medical	
				Examiners of the State	
				of California.	

AUDIT/FISCAL COMMITTEE



AUDIT/FISCAL COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:
Rod Rupp, Samuel Ferry, James Wilson, Ken Taylor

Back row le t to rig t:

Franklin J. Browning, Dr. Harry Stavros, Ron Brooks, Tom Hale

AUDIT/FISCAL COMMITTEE

The Audit Fiscal Committee assists the Grand Jury Foreman in managing the Grand Jury's budget. Also, the Committee has the responsibility to review the operations and functions of the following County Departments:

Assessor

Auditor/Controller-Recorder

Treasurer-Tax Collector

There were no significant findings or recommendations for the Office of the Treasurer-Tax Collector. The Assessment Appeals Process investigation was completed with the assistance of the Office of the Assessor and the Clerk of the Board. Two topics that the Grand Jury studied at the Auditor/Controller-Recorder (ACR) resulted in investigations into the details of the County's Historical Archives and the ACR's Quarterly Audit Report. The results of the three investigations are published in this 2008-2009 Grand Jury Report.

OFFICE OF THE ASSESSOR

ASSESSMENT APPEALS PROCESS

SUMMARY

The Grand Jury began its review of the assessment appeals process after noticing that the procedure had been the subject of past Grand Jury reports by several other California counties. Those reports were the result of public complaints. The 2008-2009 San Bernardino County Grand Jury discovered two areas of interest in our own County's assessment appeals process. First, the public is poorly informed as to the assessment appeals process. Second, third-party vendors are proliferating in the appeals process.

The assessment appeals process is a simple procedure. The process is governed by California statute and is the same in every county. When a property owner disagrees with an assessment, the property owner has the right to file an appeal. The appeal form is a concise, one-page document, which notes information that any property owner will have on record. On receipt of the application, the appellant is informed by the County as to a hearing date and the necessary documents to be presented.

BACKGROUND

Governed by State statute and largely by Propositions 8 (1979) and 13, the Assessor has responsibility for the assessment rolls, exemptions adjustments, identification of property owners, property value determinations, and reassessments.

An informal review and discussion between the property owner and San Bernardino County's Assessor's Office may be requested by the property owner. The Office of the Assessor endeavors to work with the property owner to clarify the basis for the new values, and to provide any information relating to the value of the property. Failing agreement between the Assessor and the property owner at the informal discussion, the property owner may file an Application for Changed Assessment with the Clerk of the Board (COB).

After the informal meeting between the appellant and the Assessor's staff, the COB administers the remainder of the assessment appeals process. The COB issues the appeal application and reviews the returned applications for accuracy and completeness. The COB then schedules a hearing before the Assessment Appeals Board. The COB also maintains a clerical presence at each board meeting.

The board that hears appeals cases, the Assessment Appeals Board, is appointed by the Board of Supervisors. The Assessment Appeals Board establishes the correct amount, or *equalizes* property valuations, for the purpose of taxation. Residential appeals are heard by one hearing officer. Business property appeals are heard by a panel of three hearing officers. The Appeals Board generates a decision based on the input from a

representative from the Assessor's Office and the appellant. If the appellant disagrees with the Appeals Board's decision, the appellant can appeal to the Superior Court.

Others involved in the process are County Council, the Auditor/Controller-Recorder, and Treasurer-Tax Collector. These entities have minor, but important roles and do not appear at appeals hearings. The Grand Jury checked into the public interaction the County maintains concerning assessment appeals. We looked at public informational handouts, phone help at the Assessor's Office and COB, and pertinent County web-sites. We talked at length with both major department heads on the subject. We also compared San Bernardino County's public outreach with several other counties. The Grand Jury interviewed top personnel in all involved County departments and attended several appeals hearings. The Grand Jury studied the problems of other counties and the ramifications of Proposition 8 (1979) and Proposition 13.

A majority of the appellants had difficulty communicating in English, which is the sole language in which the proceedings are conducted. These appellants' cases take significantly more time to discuss than those cases presented by fluent English speakers.

The Clerk of the Board's clerical staff turned away some of the appellants for various reasons before the hearing took place. Those turned away by the clerk generally did not have up-to-date information about their property or comparables. Out-of-date data was a common problem with appellants. However, the greatest difficulties in the proceedings were the language and potential cultural problems that faced the appellants. The appeal hearing officers clearly had a problem understanding most of those appealing. One of the appellants thought that rules governing assessments should be uniform with those of his native country. Each of the individual appeals was complicated not only by the subject matter, but by the cooperation and mental awareness of the appellant.

Continuances were liberally granted for those appellants requesting more time to present their cases.

Although four counties in California charge fees to appellants, San Bernardino County does not. In the early 1990's Orange County, according to their 2005-2006 Grand Jury Report, experienced a massive increase in defaults in favor of the appellant due to the county's appeals process dysfunction, short staffing and a massive increase in appeals. Because some of these appeals were not resolved within the statutory two-year limit, Orange County defaulted in favor of the homeowner. Orange County did not begin charging fees for assessment appeals, but rather chose a much more expensive means to cope with the problem. Orange County expanded the number of assessment appeals processing personnel, expanded the capacity of the existing appeals boards, implemented a new Assessment Appeals tracking system, and refined the intake function of the assessment appeals process. Four California counties did begin charging fees for filing assessment appeals applications: San Luis Obispo, San Mateo, Santa Clara and Stanislaus Counties. These counties also charge a fee for a Finding of Fact.

The Assessor's Office will operate with a 25% decrease in County funding this fiscal year. Also, appeals claims have been increasing rapidly. In 2007 there were about

5,500 appeals filed, 12,000 in 2008, and many more expected in 2009. There are about three years of cases currently in process.

Larger businesses typically hire dedicated outside attorneys to plead their assessment appeals before the hearing officers. These attorneys overwhelm the Board's intellectual understanding of law, appeals, assessments and valuation. One large corporation ranges between \$87 million and \$160 million in downwardly revised assessments every year. The current group of appeal hearing officers is composed of former real estate brokers, an attorney, and a CPA. Their training in the appeals process consists of an on-line course given by the California State Board of Equalization. They are not expertly versed in the law and the assessment and valuation process.

The Assessor's Office does not offer the Assessment Appeals Board legal representation. County Counsel sometimes has a presence at these hearings but does not take an active part in the proceedings. The Assessor hires no outside legal advice and relies on in-house staff to argue its position.

Third-party vendors are those companies that advertise that they will complete required forms and represent the appellant at assessment appeals hearings. By way of radio advertisements and direct mailings, third-party vendors have become a regular part of the appeals hearing process. Since 1991 the number of companies offering assessment appeal services for the public has proliferated into the hundreds statewide. These companies are easily accessible via the Internet and by way of their direct mailings.

Generally, there are two types of product third-party vendors offer clients. The most basic and inexpensive are those companies that for \$39 to \$99 will send an appeal form to the Clerk of the Board for the client. The second type of third-party vendor costs considerably more money. This third-party vendor also files the form for the appellant and further represents the appellant at hearings and promises to have the most current and complete documentation requested by the Office of the Assessor. These vendors may charge a flat fee or a percentage of the recovery, or a combination of both. One vendor charges \$179 for its services plus a \$30 late fee if the respondent does not reply to the mailing within 30 days. Sometimes their costs to the appellant are not clear.

Although third-party representation is not illegal, some of the advertising tactics by third-party vendors are misleading. Numerous mailings are cloaked in official appearing documentation. The homeowner often mistakes these mailings as notices from a government agency. Mailings and advertisements are often not clear as to the services their companies render or the costs of those services. Some vendors are out-of-state, some are without an address or phone number. Website vendors give very little information about themselves or their background and experience.

The Police Department of the City of Claremont has issued a warning to Claremont residents concerning third-party vendors who offer a reduction in property taxes for a fee. The State of California Business & Professions Code (B&P), Assessment Appeal Application Filing Services, Section 17537.9, warns the public of third-party scam activity. This year the State Legislature has introduced a bill, AB 992, to amend,

update and toughen B&P Section 17537.9. The Attorney General of California has issued a recent consumer alert concerning third-party assessment appeals vendors. In April, 2009, the San Diego County Assessor released a statement warning the public of the \$179 or more fee charged by third-party vendors who have recently mailed thousands of notices. The Assessors of Ventura, Orange and San Diego Counties display warnings of third-party vendor activity on their official web pages.

FINDINGS

- 1. Many appellants participating in the assessment appeals process are not fluent in the English language.
- 2. The Clerk of the Board does not take steps to control frivolous submittals of Applications for Changed Assessments
- 3. The Office of the Assessor does not adequately defend its assessment positions when challenged by companies and individuals that employ specialist attorneys.
- 4. The County of San Bernardino does apprise the public of third-party assessment appeals vendors' activities.
- 5. A time-line of important dates in the assessment process found on other county's websites was helpful to understanding the assessment appeals process. The Assessors of Ventura, San Diego and several other counties now display timelines on their websites.
- 6. All the information a property owner needs to process his own assessment appeal, without third-party assistance, is on the County Assessor's website.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-06 Provide language translation service to those appellants requesting such a service. (Finding 1)
- O9-07 Collect a filing fee for an Application for Changed Assessment and a fee for a Finding of Fact. (Finding 2)
- 09-08 Utilize a private legal firm, or County Council personnel, knowledgeable in the field of appraisals and assessment appeals, to represent the Office of the Assessor during major appeals. (Finding 3)
- Take the necessary steps to regulate third-party assessment appeals vendors. (Finding 4)
- O9-10 Post a permanent and more detailed notice on Assessor's website, warning that third-party vendors are not necessary in the assessment appeals process. (Finding 5)

O9-11 Include on the Assessor's website a time-line of important dates to remember during the year in order to assist the public in keeping abreast of time limits and due-dates of the property assessment processes as the year progresses. (Finding 6)

AUDITOR/CONTROLLER-RECORDER (ACR)

HISTORICAL ARCHIVES

SUMMARY

In 2006, the San Bernardino County Historical Archives (Archives) was moved from its old facility on Rialto Avenue to its new home at 1806 Commercenter West. The facility houses the county's oldest and rarest information, plus the first 41 years of the County of Riverside's historical documents. The 2008-2009 Grand Jury checked on the progress and improvement of the preservation of these priceless and one-of-a-kind artifacts and found some interesting results. Those results are documented in the findings and recommendations sections at the end of this report.

BACKGROUND

The old facility on Rialto Avenue had not been adequately equipped to maintain the historical material, nor was it secure. The facility we inspected on Commercenter was secure but still lacked archival storage infrastructure common to similar operations of this kind. There was a need for environmental controls that would prolong the useful life of the materials. The storage area was air-conditioned, but the air conditioning was intended for common warehouse activities and was inadequate for archival storage. Rare documents need more sophisticated and accurate controls and alarms. Archivists agree that temperature and humidity be kept steady in the archive storage area. Humidity must be between 40 and 55 percent, while a temperature between 60 and 70 degrees must be established. If those environmental standards cannot be met, archivists agree that *at least* a storage facility be kept at a *steady* climate using the equipment at the facility's disposal. Upgrades to the current heating and cooling need not be expensive. Additions of dust filtering and secondary humidity and temperature monitoring and logging equipment are essential for long-term preservation of historical materials.

Most of the archives were stored on open shelves. If the fire sprinklers were activated, the Archives would be heavily damaged, if not destroyed outright. Acid-free storage boxes were in abundance and a primary means of protection of materials from light, dust and moisture. The ability of the proper storage box to preserve the material cannot be understated. However, there is not much that boxes can do to protect the valuables from a discharge from the standard-type sprinkler system now employed at the Archives. For archival use, the sprinkler systems are customarily the Victaulic or *dry* type. In a dry system the piping between the valve and sprinklers is filled with pressurized air or nitrogen rather than water. A sprinkler-head opening causes air pressure to drop. When the pressure deteriorates in the pipes sufficiently, the valve clapper is allowed to open, flooding the lines with water. This system prevents the entire collection from being soaked.

The storage area of the Archives was an open warehouse-type interior with metal shelving located below and open to sprays of water from overhead fire sprinklers. The shelving meets San Bernardino City codes and was inspected by the City Fire Marshal when installed. However, two equipment standards were lacking. One, cross bracing between standing metal shelving and two, the addition of bungee-style strapping across the shelf openings to reduce the incident of materials falling in case of an earthquake.

The expansion of the Archives to adjacent offices as they become vacant would increase the volume of materials stored at the archives. The current contents of materials held by Historical Archives and by other County departments necessitates expansion of storage area. The Archives currently hold about 60% to 65% Auditor/Controller-Recorder (ACR) records, and the remainder belong to other departments. Some departments hold their own historical documents in less than satisfactory storage areas.

Security consists of ACR-hired private agency 7 AM to 7 PM. There was an every-other-hour check of the premises, and the security personnel was shared with the main ACR building across the street. After 7 PM, the Archives relied on burglar and fire alarms monitored by an agency. The ACR building manager would be called in case of an alarm anytime during the night. Two staff were on duty during business hours. The Archives maintained a policy that absolutely no one can remove material of any kind from the archives. However, there were no security cameras in the archives. The staff wore personal alarms. Archivists stressed the importance of a video recording security system.

The public was not allowed in the storage area and must wear cotton gloves when inspecting materials. Many of the very oldest books needed restoration. Technology exists that allows old material to be digitized for public use. There was no computer database of materials and the resulting handling of documents contributed to excessive wear on the original document. Staff says they were shopping for software to facilitate creation of a document database.

Staffing was an original concern of the Grand Jury when it noticed that the organizational chart for ACR showed only one employee working at the archives. There were four positions allocated, but three were unfilled. ACR sent two employees on a part-time basis to the Archives at different times of the day, so no one was there alone. No approval from the County Administrative Officer (CAO) to interview and hire anyone to fill the empty positions has been received by the ACR. Archivist literature states that it is important to secure the old documents from public mishandling and that knowledgeable people are necessary to protect the documents.

FINDINGS

- 1. The current environmental climate and control is not adequate for historical document preservation.
- 2. Nearly all of the documents are vulnerable to damage from the fire sprinkler

- system if that system activates. The current fire sprinkler system is not appropriate for historical document preservation.
- 3. Metal shelving is not adequately braced to protect valuable documents from falls during an earthquake.
- 4. The Historical Archives are in need of additional storage space.
- 5. The addition of a video security system will enhance document and employee protection.
- 6. The Historical Archives does not have a program in place to digitize, catalog, and backup its historical documents.
- 7. The Historical Archives is understaffed and in need of full-time employees.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- Upgrade environmental controls to approximate archival climate conditions. (Finding 1)
- Modify the County Historical Archives fire sprinkler system and change to the zone type, dry charge system. (Finding 2)
- O9-14 Add security bracing between shelves and straps across shelf openings to help decrease damage to documents during an earthquake. (Finding 3)
- 09-15 Expand the square footage of the Historical Archives as adjacent space becomes available. (Finding 4)
- 09-16 Upgrade security measures with the addition of a video security and surveillance system. (Finding 5)
- 09-17 Digitize, catalog, and backup all historical documents. (Finding 6)
- O9-18 Fill the three vacant positions at the Archives with permanent employees. (Finding 7)

INTERNAL AUDITS DIVISION

BACKGROUND

By mandate of the County Charter, the Internal Audits Division of the Auditor/Controller-Recorder (ACR) Office performs audits of all County departments, offices,

agencies and special districts. Though not distinguished in the Charter, these audits are determined to be operational, performance, and financial in content. These audits provide management with objective appraisals as to the status of operations of the audited organizations, and evaluate internal controls and assess business risks.

The Grand Jury reviewed audits from three different calendar quarters and interviewed staff from seven different departments including the Auditor/Controller-Recorder Office, Board of Supervisors (BOS), and the County Administrative Officer (CAO). Some staff interviewed are not familiar with the blue-bound books published each quarter. All audits are conducted in compliance with the referenced County Charter, and the Board of Supervisor's Policy Statement on Internal Operational Auditing. The Grand Jury review shows that all audits were accomplished according to professional standards.

FINDINGS

1. The San Bernardino County Policy Manual states that all departments "will be subjected to an annual internal operational audit." As an "essential element of management control" the Policy further states the function "must be carried out regularly and properly under the general direction of the County Administrative Officer."

Furthermore, the County Charter, amended by Charter Amendments adopted through November 7, 2006, in Article V, Section 6, states that "thorough audits from time-to-time, and not less than annually" will be accomplished for all departments under the control of the Board of Supervisors. Nowhere does the Charter reference, differentiate, or even acknowledge the Risk-Based Internal Audit Plan approved by the Board of Supervisors in February of 2003. The Risk-Based Plan divides the County departments into three classifications known as "High Risk," "Moderate Risk" and "Low Risk." This Plan establishes a different practice and picture of the auditing process than the Charter displays.

- 2. A review of the Internal Audits ending June 30, 2008, September 30, 2008, and December 31, 2008, by the Grand Jury, shows varied responses from management to the findings of the auditors. ACR and department management quite often maintain that the difficulty of enforcement of recommendations is due to habits and procedures established out of complacency and ignorance. Throughout, there is a constant practice of ACR referring to the *Internal Controls and Cash Manual* (ICCM) with specific chapters and pages. Also throughout, there is a constant response from management that the Manual is not available in the department. Evidence has shown the Grand Jury that even if the Manual were available, policy is often disregarded. Language used throughout the ICCM is more "advisory" than "directory" with no presence of giving command.
- 3. Oversight of Internal Operational audits by the Board of Supervisors and the County Administrators Officer to ensure enforcement of ACR's Findings and Recommendations has not been required and is not being accomplished. Recent

reviews of audits by the Grand Jury show rhetorical and representative Responses to ACR Recommendations as opposed to specific Responses and problem-solving conclusions to ensure compliance. Grand Jury review further indicates that County management and supervisory controls on administering Auditor recommendations need to be strengthened.

Without enforcement, compliance to Recommendations is nonexistent.

4. The Grand Jury learned during review of the audit reports that cash handling controls within the County departments are not always effective. While some departments have video surveillance cameras operating at some of their locations, other locations are lacking this security tool.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-19 Amend the Charter to include language to establish the numbers and names of the audit classifications, and the time frame the various audit classifications are to be accomplished. (Finding 1)
- Revise the ICCM to be commanding instead of instructional. Replace the words **should** and **must** with the word **will.** The Grand Jury recommends Manual language that encourages support to management and supervisors, while giving instructions and direction to staff. (Finding 2)
- O9-21 Establish oversight of internal operational audits along with the ACR office to ensure enforcement. Continued follow-up by ACR as done currently, along with a review each quarter from the Board of Supervisors and County Administration Officer to support department management in compliance with written procedures and policies. (Finding 3)
- Install video surveillance cameras at all cash-handling locations in all departments throughout the County to safeguard against cash-handling overages and shortages and to ensure better security for County employees and the general public. (Finding 4)

COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE



COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t: Rod Rupp, Dr. Peter Bulza, Sandra Shahan, Dr. Izar Martinez

Back row le t to rig t:

Franklin J. Browning, Tom Hale, Dr. Harry Stavros

COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE

This year's Complaints Committee received 43 complaints from May 15, 2008, through April 30, 2009. The committee reviewed all 43 to determine if they met the proper criteria, were properly formatted, and were within our jurisdiction.

Fifteen of the 43 complaints were determined to be within the Grand Jury's jurisdiction and met all requirements. Those 15 complaints were investigated. The remaining complaints were deemed not within our jurisdiction due to various reasons. Two complaints belonged in Los Angeles County.

Of the 15 valid complaints, one went to the Administrative Committee for investigation, four went to the Human Services Committee, four went to the Public and Support Services Committee, three went to the Law and Justice Committee, and one was forwarded to the Audit/Fiscal Committee. The remaining two are being referred to the incoming Grand Jury, as well as complaints received after May 1, 2009.

The Grand Jury welcomes anyone to submit a complaint. Complaints need to be on the proper Grand Jury Complaint form, which can be obtained on our website or by calling our office. All completed complaints will be reviewed by the Grand Jury.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:
Jan Flammang, Roger D. Trussell, Joyce P. Seeger, Dr. Izar Martinez,
Sandra Shahan

Back row le t to rig t:

Franklin J. Browning, Ron Brooks, John R. Saathoff

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The Economic Development Committee has the responsibility to investigate the County departments which comprise the County Economic Development Agency as follows:

Economic Development Department

Department of Workforce Development

Redevelopment Agency

Department of Community Development and Housing

Subcommittees were formed to review the performance of each department. Visitations were made to all of the above. The department heads and staff that we met were cooperative, professional, knowledgeable and dedicated. The actions of the Economic Development Committee resulted in the following final reports:

Economic Development Agency

Redevelopment Agency

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

BACKGROUND

The Workforce Development Department is one of four departments within the Economic Development Agency (EDA). The main function of this department is to create jobs working with public and private partners. The Grand Jury made four visitations to this department, three of which are included in this report. They were the One Stop Resource Center in Rancho Cucamonga, San Bernardino International Airport (IVEDA), and the Southern California Logistics Airport (SCLA) in Victorville (Victor Valley Economic Development Agency - VVEDA).

FINDINGS

1. The Grand Jury found Workforce Development Department functioning well despite the economic downturn. It has developed a proactive job placement base in the One Stop Employment Centers. The agency currently operates these centers in three strategic locations of the County: Rancho Cucamonga (visited by the Grand Jury), San Bernardino and Victorville. The Rancho Cucamonga location is a full-employment center that screens applicants for the best job suited to the individual. Job placements are based on the applicant's training and experience. The Center also offers enhanced career training and retraining for career changes where applicable. This training is fully-funded by the Federal Government.

The Department solicits and maintains a list of numerous industry and business companies who partner with the County in order to place customers in employment. The Department is active in expanding areas of opportunity with a group of 11 individuals from Workforce Development who search the field and are required to make 44 new contacts per month. The quota for the department is 500 new listings per month.

The Resource Room has a large number of computers which customers use for testing, training, job search of their data banks, completing applications and other tasks. Several Center employees are in the room to assist in computer usage. These resources are above and beyond those supplied by the State Employment Development Department (EDD). In addition, the department works in conjunction with IVEDA and VVEDA. Applicants are usually interviewed by a placement specialist and have the goal of one hour to complete the original application.

2. The Grand Jury visited IVEDA and VVEDA. Both airports are in a functional capacity, but operating differently. Both airports cooperate with the EDA to support satellite business and industries which benefit from air, rail and trucking transport. IVEDA plans to operate as a completely functional passenger airport by the end of 2009. A fully operational terminal with shops and restaurants is powered and

online. VVEDA is equipped to handle aircraft from small general aviation to the Airbus E-380. This includes a repair service and paint shop for all sizes. A recently opened school trains Airframe and Powerplant (A&P) mechanics to fill an increasing nationwide need. Surrounding businesses and industries help to expand the job base and create opportunity for growth.

COMMENDATION

The Grand Jury found a highly functioning Workforce Development Department whose vision focuses on a strong, proactive job placement for its clients. Eleven employees of the Workforce Development Department are in the field, making contact with prospective employers. These employees generate in excess of 500 new listings each month. During these challenging economic times this is a commendable effort.

The services being provided by the One Stop Employment Resource center to individuals seeking employment exceed the services provided by the State Employment Development Department.

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

CEDAR GLEN

BACKGROUND

The Cedar Glen Disaster Recovery Project Area (CGDRPA) was created under special legislation in 2004 after the Old Fire of 2003. It had previously been declared a Federal Disaster Area in 2003, but additional rains and flooding occurred in 2004. Area boundaries were determined based upon primary and secondary damage reports.

San Bernardino County approved a \$10 million loan to the Redevelopment Agency to be repaid by generated tax increments. Only \$2.4 million was appropriated in December 2005 and \$4.9 million was appropriated in November 2008, with the remainder in a contingency fund.

Disaster recovery area time limits are drastically shorter than for other projects.

- 10 years to implement programs and conduct activities (versus 30 years)
- 10 years to incur debt (versus 20 years)
- 30 years to repay debt (versus 45 years)

County departments working in conjunction are as follows:

- Special Districts for road and water design and improvements, maintenance and operations
- Building and Safety for extension of building fee waivers
- Planning for lot merger requirement
- Tax Collector for tax-defaulted property sale
- California Department of Housing (CDH) Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) \$3 million grant from State

Three housing programs are available:

- Housing Rehabilitation Grant
- Housing Rehabilitation Loan Program
- Land Use Services Grant

FINDINGS

- 1. Commercial programs and mandatory debris clean-up are in development.
- 2. There is a ten-year time limit for completion of the Cedar Glen Disaster Recovery Project Area because it is a Federal disaster area.

- 3. Only five years remain to complete the project as a result of delays due to problems and finances with water rights.
- 4. Some residents feel they are not informed by Redevelopment about plans, progress, and meetings, even though Redevelopment stated that notices have been posted.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-23 All agencies involved take into consideration these time restraints and complete the project within the time limit or get an extension. (Findings 2 and 3)
- O9-24 Provide direct mailings to residents regarding plans, progress, and meetings to ensure that everyone residing in the project area is informed on a regular basis. (Finding 4)

HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE



HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:

Robert Romero, Dr. Peter Bulza, Jan Flammang, Joyce P. Seeger, Becki Hernandez-Powell

Back row le t to rig t:

Samuel Ferry, Roger D. Trussell, Patricia Swangel, Dr. Harry Stavros, Tom Hale

HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE

The Human Services Committee had the responsibility of reviewing these departments within the Human Services Group:

Department of Aging and Adult Services

Child Support Services

Children's Services

Performance, Education & Resource Centers

Preschool Services

Transitional Assistance Department

Veterans Affairs Department

Areas of specific review included the following:

Veterans Affairs

Foster Care/Adoption

The Committee would like to thank each of these departments for cooperating with the Grand Jury and for providing professional and compassionate service to County residents.

The Human Services Committee submits reports on the following topics:

Homeless Advocacy

Homeless Coalition

Elder Abuse

In addition, several letters of complaint triggered one Human Services subcommittee to spend more than 1,000 hours during the 2008-2009 Grand Jury term. This subcommittee investigated financial fraud and physical neglect of senior citizens with the assistance of the DA's office.

DEPARTMENT OF AGING AND ADULT SERVICES

ELDER ABUSE

BACKGROUND

Members of the Grand Jury visited with the administrators of the Department of Aging and Adult Services (DAAS). Discussions involved an overview of the Department with a special emphasis on the topic of elder abuse. A subcommittee received and reviewed the document, San Bernardino County lder and Dependent Adult Abuse Inter-Agency Protocol, November 1, 200. Discussions also centered on the Public Guardian and Conservator services provided by the County.

The Grand Jury has recognized that the demographics of the County regarding the percentage of the population defined as elderly is dramatically increasing.

Statistics indicate that reported cases of elder abuse have been increasing in the County over the past decade. While the number of reported cases has been on the rise, state funding to investigate these complaints has been declining.

Even with declining funding, it is imperative that the outreach program for reporting elder abuse be enhanced.

The website for DAAS has a prominent display in the middle of their home page highlighting the HOTLINE TO REPORT ELDER ABUSE.

FINDINGS

- 1. The Department website provides a tab listing *S NIOR C N RS* within the County.
- 2. The Grand Jury visited a number of Senior Centers listed on the County website tab, and found few postings or brochures providing information on how to report elder abuse.

RECOMMENDATION

O9-25 Provide and display large, visible posters, of at least 11 by 17 inches. Posters will provide information regarding the reporting of elder abuse and are to be displayed near exits of all of the Senior Centers listed on the DAAS website. (Findings 1, 2)

HOMELESS

HOMELESS ADVOCATE

BACKGROUND

To qualify for federal funds, Housing and Urban Development (HUD) has required counties to create and implement a ten-year plan to end chronic homelessness. The Grand Jury found that San Bernardino County is in the process of complying with this HUD mandate and has a coalition which is working toward this goal. Individuals were interviewed from the Department of Behavioral Health, Department of Legislative Affairs, San Bernardino Police Department, San Bernardino County Schools, and the Central City Lutheran Mission. Some Grand Jury members also attended the November 2008, Homeless Summit.

FINDINGS

- 1. A significant number of homeless individuals have been identified in the City of San Bernardino. Business owners and residents in City of San Bernardino often call the police, complaining that homeless individuals have been panhandling, trespassing, or causing a public nuisance. The responding officer can arrest and book, which costs time and money, or order the offenders to disperse, which only moves the problem to another location.
- 2. Three years ago, the San Bernardino Police Department (SBPD) assigned one Homeless Advocate Officer (HAO) to deal with incidents involving the homeless population. This HAO has created a unique program which provides professional, compassionate customer service to both the City and its homeless population. Problems involving minor crimes or mental illness are referred to Homeless Court. There, those who qualify are offered the opportunity to do community service, to receive treatment, or to participate in a program which will help them improve their quality of life. Occasionally the HAO has been able to assist clients by obtaining medical insurance through Medically Indigent Adults (MIA) or to refer them to low-cost clinics such as Social Action Community Norton or Central City Mission's H Street Clinic. This officer not only answers police calls, but personally goes into the homeless camps and seeks people who can be helped by the programs which are already in place.

- 3. The assignment of one dedicated officer who deals with the homeless population has been beneficial to the entire police department. This officer's expertise in locating services, in defusing potential altercations, and in understanding individual limitations has saved the City of San Bernardino much stress, time, and money.
- 4. This HAO has given presentations to other groups, such as Code Compliance, Public Works, Caltrans, Department of Behavioral Health, law enforcement, non-profit and faith-based organizations, stressing the importance of collaborative and compassionate efforts in dealing with the homeless population.

COMMENDATION

With no established program in place to deal effectively with police interactions with the homeless, this HAO has created and continues to implement a viable and exemplary program.

RECOMMENDATION

09-26 Establish a Homeless Advocate Officer position in the Sheriff's Department. (Finding 3)

HOMELESS CONTINUUM OF CARE

BACKGROUND

Recent investigations into the conditions of and care for the homeless of San Bernardino County (SBC) indicated that the County has some homeless programs in place, but more oversight is needed in order to create an effective and comprehensive plan. The 2008 application submitted by the San Bernardino County Continuum of Care (CoC) to the Housing and Urban Development (HUD) was not awarded funding for new projects. This highlights areas of concern in the County's homeless program. This Grand Jury report demonstrates that a lack of cooperation among participating agencies has resulted in the loss of millions of dollars for new programs for the County.

Prior to the CoC Debriefing Summary, the 2008-2009 Grand Jury was comfortable with the direction of the homeless programs in the County. At the Homeless

Summit in November 2008, the Keynote Speaker from HUD had high praise for San Bernardino County.

FINDINGS

- 1. The April 22, 2009, Debriefing Summary concerning San Bernardino County's Continuum of Care application to HUD reported that the County received 74.25 points out of 100, falling short of the 78.25 threshold for funding. That short-coming in the application cost the County \$6-8 million dollars of HUD funding for new projects in SBC.
- 2. The County is not the lead fiscal agency and has no oversight for the application submitted by the San Bernardino County Continuum of Care. The application was in response to the Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 2008 Notice of Funding Announcement (NOFA). The CoC Debriefing Summary demonstrated a lack of cooperation by the involved agencies. Agencies that receive HUD funding were deficient in reporting their required performance measures.
- 3. The application process for completion and approval is quite lengthy. All the providers, or agencies participating, are required to enter information such as bedcounts and bed-count usage into the Homeless Management Information System (HMIS). In 2008, this requirement was either not accomplished or not forwarded to HUD as required. Results show a lack of training by Office of Homeless Services (OHS) to assist agencies, and little, if any, monitoring by HUD.
- 4. The Community Action Partnership (CAP), a private non-profit benefit corporation, is responsible for the application of the Homeless Management Information System. HUD gives CAP funds to run the HMIS system. This arrangement resulted in a successful application in 2007, but a denial of new funding in 2008.
- 5. The County has not yet established an effective oversight group to bring together into a cohesive and active body all the current and potential organizations which aid the homeless. Successful results in the fight against homelessness will only be achieved through collaboration and cooperation with the Homeless Partnership.
- 6. San Bernardino County has fallen behind in its effort to achieve the 2005 Federal Government's National Alliance to End Homelessness plan which urged the cities and counties nationwide to create and implement a 10-Year Plan to deal with the homeless. The Counties of Riverside, Orange, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara already have their 10-year plan in operation. Currently more than one dozen cities in San Bernardino County are involved in a County partnership to fulfill this plan.

The County has requested, through the Homeless Partnership, that the mayors of these cities present plans for their respective homeless situations, especially regarding the establishment of permanent supportive housing for chronically homeless persons. However, most agencies and cities continue to be reluctant to provide this permanent-type housing.

7. A consultant was hired for \$30,000 to assist in the writing of the CoC application. Despite this assistance, funding was not granted to the County for new programs.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- 09-27 Establish the OHS as the lead fiscal agency on behalf of San Bernardino County Homeless Partnership. (Finding 2)
- Request that HUD provide training for each agency to establish 100% accuracy and timeliness for HMIS entries and request that HUD monitor the County's application process from start to completion. (Findings 2, 3, 4)
- 09-29 Require that OHS submit the completed 10-Year Plan to the Board of Supervisors for approval well in advance of the application deadline to HUD. (Finding 6)
- Urge mayors and city councils that are not currently part of the OHS Partnership to support the County leadership by identifying one or more providers of permanent supportive housing for chronically homeless persons. (Finding 6)
- 09-31 Request that cities within the homeless partnership of the County provide more support to the County's 10-year plan and prepare for their cities to address the homeless conditions. (Finding 6)
- O9-32 Allow no contracts with paid consultants to assist in applications for HUD funding. (Finding 7)

LAW AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE



LAW AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:

James Wilson, Dr. Peter Bulza, Jan Flammang, Roger D. Trussell,
Sandra Shahan, Ken Taylor

Back row le t to rig t:

John R. Saathoff, Dr. Harry Stavros, Tom Hale

LAW AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE

The Law and Justice Committee experienced a very active year of investigations. Our term enabled us to focus on the following three areas:

- All of the San Bernardino County Jails and several of the Sheriff's stations
- Probation (High Desert Juvenile Detention and Assessment Center and the Fred D. Jones Youth Center)
- Public Defender (Indigent Defense Fund process and staffing)

San Bernardino County Jails/Stations:

The following jail facilities were inspected:

Adelanto Detention Center Barstow Station

Big Bear Station Central Detention Center

Colorado River Station Glen Helen Rehabilitation Center

Twin Peaks Station Victor Valley Station
West Valley Detention Center Yucaipa Station

Juvenile Detention and Assessment Centers:

Apple Valley Gilbert Street

Rancho Cucamonga

Visitation reports were written on each of the above facilities. Findings and recommendations were written on those facilities where we deemed improvements were needed.

GENERAL FINDINGS FOR JAILS

The Sheriff's Department is concerned about the safety of department personnel. Proactive involvement in lessening the possibility of danger to Sheriff's Department employees needs to be pursued in the following areas:

1. According to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) in Atlanta, the number of reported cases of tuberculosis (TB) in the U.S. during the past decade has been on the rise. TB is spread from person to person through the air. Individuals working in confined environments, such as jails, patrol cars or offices, are more likely to contract the disease than individuals working outdoors.

During this past summer, there was an incident in the Needles area that brought members of the Sheriff's Department into contact with a food service worker who, allegedly, had active TB. The Sheriff's Department did an outstanding job in dealing with this situation.

After the first of this year, a community college student was also diagnosed with TB.

TB-related incidents are becoming numerous, and contracting TB is more likely for those dealing with the public.

The California Department of Corrections requires their personnel have a TB test every year. California public schools require their personnel to have a TB test every two years.

If TB is diagnosed early, medications are available for effective treatment.

2. Each Sheriff's Academy graduate is issued a protective vest. Currently, the policy for wearing protective vests when working in the jails is voluntary. Many Sheriff's Department employees who work in the jails do not wear protective vests.

During the past five years, a similar voluntary policy was in effect at the California Institution for Men (CIM) at Chino until an employee died as a result of being stabbed. He was not wearing a protective vest. The Grand Jury realizes that an incident similar to this is possible at any of our facilities. At present at CIM, all personnel are required to wear protective vests.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-33 Require all Sheriff's Department employees to have an annual TB test as part of their continued service with the department. (Finding 1)
- 09-34 Require designated Sheriff's Department employees working in the jails to wear protective vests while on duty. (Finding 2)

PROBATION DEPARTMENT

SUMMARY

In November 2007, the County of San Bernardino (County) ended its partnership with a subsidiary of a national juvenile group home company. The once enthusiastic and hopeful plan of the San Bernardino County Probation Department, the company, and its subsidiary to house juveniles in a new facility called the Fred D. Jones Youth Center (Center) ended in November, 2007. The subsidiary emptied its Hesperia facility of personnel and juveniles and closed its doors. The facility was sold and reopened as a public charter school.

BACKGROUND

In February 2004, the Center was opened and began accepting juveniles placed by the county juvenile courts and by the Probation Department. This facility was located in the First Supervisorial District and was actively supported by the former Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, Bill Postmus. The new 65,000 square-foot facility was constructed at a cost of nearly five million dollars. The parent company and subsidiary funded the construction of the facility through loans secured on the basis of a contract with the County. The County and the company had signed a ten-year renewable, \$48 million agreement. Construction of the facility took over a year to complete. It was located in the 16900 block of Lemon Street in Hesperia, California.

The Center was planned to house a relatively large number of juveniles from the ages of 12 to 18. According to subsidiary management, there would be no locks and no time-out rooms. Rather, the juveniles would participate in strenuous outdoor activities, attend school, optional Bible study, and have access to mental health treatment. The programs provided at the facility would aim to instill a sense of self-discipline, dignity and a sense of honor in the juveniles. But in January 2007, the Probation Department, citing moral issues, unilaterally backed out of the agreement and began withdrawing and relocating its juveniles.

In the early 2000's, State-licensed foster care facilities were nothing new to the Probation Department. There were over a hundred homes for assigned risk juveniles in San Bernardino County. The County Probation Department is responsible for assigning each juvenile to a home appropriate for his or her risk designation. In this case *risk* does not mean dangerous. Risk factors are related to the amount of care each individual needs. For instance, juveniles with special needs, health, emotional, and learning problems are considered a higher risk factor than those without those needs. Higher *risk* does not directly translate to *more dangerous*. Juvenile group homes are not intended for the criminal juvenile elements. The Probation Department has a long and successful history of utilizing private group homes managed by organizations such as Boys Republic, Trinity Youth Center, Silver Lakes Group Homes, and many others.

Individual counties determine into which type of facilities their juveniles are placed. Private juvenile homes became more prevalent in California, growing from 3,295 private homes in 2002 to 5,465 private homes in 2005. Beginning in 2001, the parent company proposed that the Center, which was then in the planning stage, would be for nonviolent juveniles. According to the 2003-2004 San Bernardino County Grand Jury Report, the Probation Department needed to respond to a demand by the California Department of Corrections for more bed space for juvenile residential detention treatment centers. Despite some controversy over the terms of the agreement, the Board of Supervisors approved a ten-year agreement with the parent company and subsidiary for 72 beds for in-County juvenile resident assessments and treatment services. The agreement stated, among a number of other items, that Probation personnel would not be required at the facility and the State and County would share the \$5000 a month cost for each juvenile. Unfortunately, the Grand Jury 2003-2004 Report assumed that the agreement contained a clause that allowed a release from bed guarantee if there were an insufficient number of juveniles to fill the 72-bed requirement. This clause grew to be the major contentious issue between the subsidiary's management and the Probation Department. A high-ranking Probation Department administrator had, in 2001, promised the Board of Supervisors, who had been considering housing juveniles in tents, that those beds would be filled for many years to come.

The parent company's website describes media articles and programs aired and published during the 1980's. Many of these articles, TV spots, and commentaries were, at least in part, critical of its methods and style. Prior to 2000, 60 Minutes televised at least two critical segments about the parent company's unorthodox management of juvenile offenders. A number of websites and news articles from the 1980's and 1990's reviewed by members of the Grand Jury reported many problems associated with the parent company's facilities in other states.

After nearly four years of planning, the 65,000 square-foot, ten-acre Center opened on a Monday in January, 2004. The Center accepted its first 20 juveniles the following Friday. Problems with the Center's operations began immediately.

The facility housed juveniles from San Bernardino County in addition to juveniles from other counties. At the subsidiary-managed Center, not only were the juveniles involved with several types of misconduct, but so was the staff. One staff member was arrested in March of 2006, for having unlawful sex with the 14-year-old daughter of another staff member. The subsidiary president resigned in May of 2006, after the publication of sexual molestation incidents involving juveniles by two female staff members. One female staff member reportedly had sexual relations with two underage boys from other counties. The allegations were verified and the staffer fired.

The Probation Department felt that the State was not responsive to the 300-plus incident reports sent to the State by Probation in 2005 concerning the situation at the Center, and the State continued to license the facility. However, newspaper reports describe a 2006 investigation of the Youth Center by the State Department of Social Services after a complaint by one of the molestation victim's mothers. The State's investigation of the Center found that the juveniles were served food containing foreign objects including flies, metal and plastic. One juvenile was choked by a staff member while roughhousing. Another juvenile was denied medical attention after he injured his

hand. The State investigation found that one juvenile housed at the facility had a sexual perpetrator history, a violation of both State regulations and the County agreements with the subsidiary.

During 2005, 82 juveniles ran away from the facility. The large, nearly unsecured facility was a short distance to a bus stop and a trip to San Bernardino and other points. In the period from April through July 2006, 51 calls to the Sheriff's station in Hesperia were made for assistance at the Center. The Sheriff's Department voiced concern with the number of calls involving the Center. This prompted the Probation Department to staff a Probation Officer at the Center. One of the original selling points to the Board of Supervisors was that no County staff would be needed at the facility.

The problem of runaways from the facility created issues of public safety. A 15 year-old was committed to the Center in early 2006. One of many runaways from the Jones Center, the juvenile surfaced months later as the suspected shooter in an incident that left an 11 year-old dead and a 13 year-old wounded on the grounds of Martin Luther King Jr. Middle School in the City of San Bernardino. San Bernardino Police reports said witnesses described the juvenile as asking an 11 year-old boy where he was from, meaning what gang did he belong to. When the boy responded he didn't belong to a gang, the juvenile shot and killed him. The boy's brother was shot in the hand and has since recovered. The adjudication of this case has not been made public, as all juvenile proceedings are confidential.

Because the County was required to pay for 72 occupied beds per day at the facility, whether or not the beds were occupied, billing became an on-going point of contention between the subsidiary and the Probation Department. Problems at the Center were the subject of numerous meetings between the subsidiary and Probation, but no satisfactory solution was reached. In late summer of 2006, the Probation Department had lost faith in the partnership. After repeated attempts to end the contract and having had to provide County staff to assist at the Center, in July 2006, Probation no longer complied with the 72-bed requirement.

The Probation Department's association with the subsidiary was terminated on January 1, 2007. However, even without the original legal agreement, Probation continued to house some juveniles at the facility. The subsidiary struggled on with a dwindling number of juveniles sent by other counties throughout the State until November, 2007, when the company ceased operations and left California. The subsidiary is still an affiliate of the parent company operating a juvenile home in another state. As the result of the contractual wording in the original agreement, several key points were disputed by the parties. The main point of contention was the payment for the bed guarantee requirement. After studying the situation, even the 2003-2004 Grand Jury, the media, and the Probation Department were confused on this point. The Probation Department and County Counsel disagreed with the parent company regarding when certain obligations under the contract were triggered. The result was a breach of contract suit brought against the County in April 2007, and settled in March 2009, for \$2,700,000 in favor of the subsidiary and parent company.

FINDINGS

- 1. The current administration of the Probation Department acted in the best interest of the County in terminating its association with the parent company and its subsidiary in November 2007.
- 2. The County contract between the parent company and its subsidiary in California was unclear in its intent and treatments of the participating party's responsibilities and duties.
- 3. Although the State did license the facility at the beginning of the relationship between the County and the subsidiary, no County entity investigated the past history of the subsidiary, its parent company, or those people working for those companies before entering into an expensive contractual agreement.

COMMENDATION

Regardless of the consequences of the contractual arrangement with the parent company and its subsidiary, the Probation Department protected the juveniles under its control from a dangerous situation. (Finding 1)

RECOMMENDATIONS

09-35	Clarify responsibilities and state exact time specifications in future contracts with private companies. (Finding 2)
09-36	Conduct operational and financial audits on private business enterprises. (Finding 3)
09-37	Perform background checks on executive personnel before entering into contracts with private companies. (Finding 3)

HIGH DESERT JUVENILE DETENTION AND ASSESSMENT CENTER

SUMMARY

The four-year old Probation Department facility, located north of Apple Valley on Dale Evans Parkway, is a state-of-the-art facility. The basic layout is a mirror image of the older sister facility at West Valley Juvenile Detention Center in Rancho Cucamonga. It is well-designed and engineered for the safety of both inmates and workers. Personnel, at all levels interviewed, were enthusiastic about the facility and their own positions. There is tight control over the inmates (wards) in highly-structured programs and environment. 113 sworn officers work assigned shifts of eight hours each, plus overtime.

BACKGROUND

Power Supply: Probation personnel attested to the functionality of back-up power generation. They said that Southern California Edison (SCE) power outages occur several times a year and the generators have never failed. The longest outages are in the two-hour range, but the generators have always been reliable. Due to the number of SCE outages at the complex and the number of test trials per year, the electrical system appears adequate.

Education: Schooling is required for wards under 18 years of age. The County Office of Education operates the educational classes at various locations within the facility. There are 10 to 15 students per classroom with one teacher and one aide. Wards showed an intense concentration not normally found in public schools.

Wards excel in General Education Diploma (GED) testing. 90% of the students taking the test have received a passing grade. Students are transported to the Central Detention Center (CDC) for testing. Any high school credits earned are sent to the ward's home school for evaluation and acceptance toward a high school diploma.

Medical: The clinic is well-staffed with nurses and support personnel on duty 24/7 and a medical doctor three days per week. Wards are given a physical examination by a nurse upon entry, each time they re-enter the system, and annually thereafter.

Wards are allowed one sick call every 24 hours for non-emergency situations. They are provided with care for reproductive health, including treatment of sexually transmitted diseases and birth control.

Lab work is drawn and collected in-house and sent to Arrowhead Regional Medical Center (ARMC). Wards with injuries or serious medical problems are transported to ARMC or, in an emergency, to St. Mary's Hospital in Apple Valley.

Mental Health and Treatment: There is an extensive mental health program for the wards at the facility. In addition to a psychiatric evaluation upon entrance, psychiatric care is available one time per week, and counseling is provided 24/7.

There is a specialized Forensic Adolescent Services Team (FAST) for needs such as behavioral problems, crisis intervention, independent living skills and reintegration into home and society. An administrator spoke at length, explaining the concept, and the varied "watch levels" of behavioral conduct. He also explained that probation staff does all internal risk classification. This classification is by gender, age, size, type of crime, history and attitude. This process usually takes less than one week for new wards.

Wards in the juvenile system tend to have many mental issues. About 50% of those entering this facility indulge in alcohol consumption. About 90% have identifiable problems with alcohol and other drugs. A psychotherapist does local testing and evaluation and is also responsible for psychological interns. At the time of the Grand Jury visit, there were two females and five males on suicide watch.

Housing: Wards are housed two to a cell in community pod-type arrangements. They are assigned to a certain pod according to the classification interview. These community pod structures are situated around an interior exercise/activity area with showers within each individual cell group. Activity is almost entirely within the individual pod structures, although wards have access to adjacent outside exercise yards. Each pod has ten rooms, with one room specifically for those wards with problems. This room has a small opening which allows for handcuffs to be applied and removed when necessary.

Each ward adheres to strict rules and is never left alone. Wards are required to maintain their own cells. Other than individual educational and chore assignments within the pod, wards perform no work in the complex. Adherence to behavioral standards earns an Honor Night each week, with points earned for the purchase of privileged items.

Visitation: The only visitors allowed are parents and grandparents. Visits are allowed once a week, only on weekdays from 7 to 9 P.M. There is no weekend visitation. Occasionally, there may be special circumstances for a visitor outside of these parameters.

Telephone calls are allowed seven days per week. Wards get at least two free calls, but all other calls must be collect, unless otherwise ordered by the Courts.

Capacity: The center has a capacity for 200 wards, but at the time of the Grand Jury visit, there were 128, consisting of 115 males and 13 females. Most wards are from the high desert area of San Bernardino County, but occasionally, some are accepted from other areas/counties, depending on needs assessment.

Meals: The kitchen microwaves about 500 frozen ConAgra meals per day for wards and staff, with locally added pastries, salads and deserts. The usual fare is two hot and one cold, normally lunch.

Facilities Maintenance: County Facilities Management personnel maintain the plant. It is very well maintained with no observed hazards.

Overall, this facility is exceptionally well engineered and operated.

FINDING

1. While interior cameras are adequate and have recording operations, exterior cameras lack recording capability. Staff has had to use hand-held cameras in some circumstances.

RECOMMENDATION

09-38 Upgrade all exterior cameras to include recording capabilities. (Finding 1)

PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE

BACKGROUND

The Public Defender is charged with the responsibility to defend persons charged with offenses who are unable to afford a private attorney.

During a visit regarding a past Grand Jury recommendation concerning indigent defense funding, the Public Defender was concerned over clients being arrested for failure to pay indigent fees. This concern was related to the location of an arrest warning for violation of probation terms and chargeable fees on the same *tahl sheet* of the misdemeanor form.

Many Public Defender deputies appear with clients in video arraignments within the actual jail. In fiscal year 2008-2009, the San Bernardino County Public Defender's office had 116 budgeted Deputy Public Defender positions, but only 122 were actually filled. This office handles 80% of the caseload of the District Attorney's office and averages over 500 cases per deputy. Compared to a 325 to 350 caseload of deputies in other counties, such as Riverside or San Diego, it demonstrates that County personnel carry a disproportionate burden.

The current downturn in the economy is having no immediate effect on this office, as it is part of the Law and Justice Group and not subject to the 8% cut in funds. Some cases are dismissed by the District Attorney because of the length of time required for bringing a case to trial. If budget cuts were applied to the Public Defender's office, more cases would be dismissed before getting to court.

FINDINGS

1. Many arrest warrants, issued over unpaid indigent fees could be resolved by placing the fee schedule on a separate page.

RECOMMENDATIONS

O9-39 Put Indigent Fee Schedule on a separate page from the probation warning. (Finding 1)

SHERIFF-CORONER

JAIL FACILITIES

ADELANTO DETENTION CENTER

BACKGROUND

Adelanto was formerly a privately-operated prison, beginning with its construction in 1997. It was purchased in 2005, at a cost of \$80,000 per bed. If built new, the facility would have cost about \$125,000 per bed.

The current expansion of the Adelanto Detention Center was funded by State Grant (via AB800) of \$100 million, which will add 1,386 beds, in three pods of 462 prisoners. When added to the present 706 prisoners, this will provide a total of 2,092 beds. The completion date is anticipated for 2011-2012.

Other than a few holding cells for intake and transport, the jail population is housed in open dormitory-type sections. They are placed according to their risk factor, determined by customary assessment of attitude, violence risk and level of crime. Almost all inmates are felons. At the present time there are no female prisoners

Because showers and toilet facilities are minimally screened with modesty panels, video camera placement is limited in the open dormitory areas. However, video cameras in the Bridge (control room) area can be operated, in time of need, by the deputy on station. All cameras have recording capability.

The jail provides General Educational Development (GED) classes but is limited by space.

The kitchen area is clean and well maintained.

There are 151 assigned staff positions for the jail, 95% of which are filled.

There are RN's and/or LVN's available 24/7, with doctors available on call for medical and mental health issues. The facility lacks a dental hygiene program, but inmates with dental issues are transported and seen at West Valley Detention Center.

The question of deputies wearing protective vests has been asked in each jail and the answer is always that the equipment is available, but use is not mandatory. The Grand Jury asked the Captain if employees are required to have tuberculosis (TB) tests yearly, and was told that it has never been mandated but employees can request testing if they feel it is necessary.

FINDINGS

- 1. Facility is cooled by evaporative coolers.
- 2. Floor coverings in housing pods have deteriorated.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- 09-40 Replace evaporative cooling system with an air conditioning system. (Finding 1)
- 09-41 Install new flooring in the housing pods. (Finding 2)

BARSTOW STATION

BACKGROUND

The Barstow Jail facility is the oldest Sheriff's building in the county. This Type I facility has a capacity for 36 male prisoners and 12 female prisoners. The Barstow Sheriff's Station is responsible to protect a 9,812 square-mile field area plus the jail operation. West Valley Detention Center (WVDC) does approximately 400 bookings for this facility. Buses pick up and deliver prisoners each day. The prisoners are nonsentenced and held no longer than overnight for court appearances. Inmate workers (four trustees) and County Facilities Management maintain the building and grounds. The trustees have a barracks-style room with a computer. Jail Deputies work eight-hour shifts, Patrol Deputies work 10-hour shifts, and the Watch Commander works a 12-hour shift. Additionally, they operate with Military Police at Fort Irwin on felony cases. Deputies are not required to wear protective vests within the jail. They do wear protective vests while on patrol. The kitchen is clean and small. It is adequate for serving the staff and the 48 present inmates. The jail cook is a trustee who is Regional Occupational Program (ROP) certified and handles the preparation of food sent from WVDC.

FINDINGS

- 1. The Board of Supervisors has approved \$3.5 million for two phases of expansion.
- 2. The roof leaks in the Bridge (control room).
- 3. The exposed electrical wiring problems in the Bridge constitute a potential safety hazard.
- 4. A low-hanging metal box in the entry way is a potential safety hazard.
- 5. Restroom/locker room facilities are inadequate for female employees.

6. The exit for released prisoners is through the patrol car parking lot.

RECOMMENDATIONS

D9-42 Expedite the remodel and expansion of the facility. (Finding 1)

Repair the roof leaks in the Bridge area and the electrical/wiring problems. (Findings 2, 3)

Remove the low-hanging metal box in the entry area. (Finding 4)

Provide adequate female locker/restroom facilities. (Finding 5)

Install a locking-bar jail door to existing exit at front parking lot. (Finding 6)

BIG BEAR STATION

BACKGROUND

The Big Bear Jail is a 22-bed facility (10 single and 3 four-person rooms). The food is prepared at and transported from the West Valley Detention Center.

One building houses various County offices, including the jail, Sheriff's Office and Superior Court.

If a prisoner were to need medical attention beyond first-aid, the Big Bear Community Hospital is one block away.

The jail section of the station was clean and well-maintained. The kitchen, laundry room and common room were in excellent condition. Big Bear Jail uses several sentenced prisoners from Glen Helen to do the routine custodial duties.

FINDINGS

- 1. The video equipment is inadequate. It is old, can only be accessed by several black and white video monitors located in various parts of the station, and has no recording capability.
- 2. Parking is inadequate for the number of people who use the jail, court and various county offices. There is limited secured parking.
- 3. A jail this size normally has four or five Sheriff Custodial Specialists (SCS). Big Bear has only three SCSs, which requires a deputy to be on duty in the jail. The

station has only one female deputy and one female SCS who are authorized to search female subjects. This can cause a problem if both are off duty. In that case, one female would have to be called in and paid overtime.

RECOMMENDATIONS

O9-47 Provide a state-of-the-art monitoring/recording video system similar to the one created at Victorville for ALL of the other small jails. (Finding 1)

O9-48 Provide additional secured parking in the area. (Finding 2)

Transfer at least one additional female SCS and/or deputy sheriff to the Big Bear Station. (Finding 3)

COLORADO RIVER STATION

BACKGROUND

The Colorado River Sheriff's Station building was constructed in 1973. The building is clean but, other than the kitchen, has no ceiling sprinkler system. Fire extinguishers are easily available. The kitchen area has been updated with modern sink, stove, counters, and refrigerator. Prisoner food is delivered every week from West Valley Detention Center (WVDC). The facility includes a laundry room.

The building has an intake area for booking and one attorney visiting room. Fingerprinting, booking photos, and a breathalyzer machine are located in a separate room. There are also visiting rooms with phones for prisoners and family members.

Due to the monsoons in the desert areas, maintenance crews check back-up generators monthly for serviceability. All vehicles are kept in the secured fenced parking lot.

FINDINGS

- 1. Crown Victoria automobiles currently in use are not appropriate for off-road use.
- 2. The aging Boston Whaler patrol boats need constant repairs causing additional expense to a limited budget.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- 09-50 Replace Crown Victoria automobiles with 4-wheel drive vehicles on a scheduled basis. (Finding 1)
- 09-51 Replace Boston Whaler patrol boats on a scheduled basis. (Finding 2)

GLEN HELEN REHABILITATION CENTER

BACKGROUND

Glen Helen Facility is 50 years old. During this period of time Glen Helen has changed and now houses inmates who have committed felonies and misdemeanors. This facility also has week-end prisoners that are given jobs at County parks and Caltrans. Prisoners check in each day and leave at 6:00 pm., returning the next day for another work detail. They bring their own lunch, but water is provided.

An electronic monitoring ankle-bracelet program will be initiated shortly. The Sheriff's Department will make the decision as to who will wear the ankle bracelets. The Department predicts that the cost for the program will pay for itself by charging the prisoner a minimum of \$15.00 a day. If the electronic monitoring is violated, a warrant will be issued, and the individual will then do straight-time with no weekends.

Continuous Professional Training (CPT) is provided for each deputy (24 hours every two years). This is done with videos and simulator training. Advanced Officer Training is optional.

Medical care is provided by RN's or LVN's. If serious medical attention is necessary, the prisoner is transported to West Valley Detention Center.

The new prisoner receiving area is too small for current needs.

Some cells house two prisoners; some prisoners are housed in open dorms. The jail also has protective housing for prisoners with special needs. Prisoners wear different colored jumpsuits to signify their level of incarceration: green clothing for protective custody, orange for general population, and blue for prison workers.

The cafeteria was immaculate, large and in a separate building from cell housing.

FINDINGS

- 1. The jail area is old and in need of paint. The two-man cells are small but appear clean and neat.
- 2. The open dorms were dirty and litter-filled and could invite insects and vermin.
- 3. The Receiving Room for booking of new arrivals was too small to accommodate the handling of a large group of incoming prisoners.
- 4. The deputies carry mace and are issued tasers for protection in case of an altercation. No protective vests were worn by officers. Officers have them, but to wear them is optional.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-52 Paint the building, which is old and in need. (Finding 1)
- O9-53 Provide prisoners housed in dorms with footlockers to store their extra clothing and food in order to keep the area free from insects and vermin. (Finding 2)
- 09-54 Enlarge the Receiving Room area in order to process large groups of incoming prisoners. (Finding 3)

MORONGO STATION

BACKGROUND

The Morongo Basin Station is the third largest Sheriff's station in the County, both in number of calls which averages 5,000 per month and the area serviced, 52,000 square miles. Five patrolled districts service a population of about 85,000. The area of responsibility includes the incorporated City of Twenty-nine Palms and the Town of Yucca Valley. Unincorporated communities are Morongo Valley, Landers, Johnson Valley, Joshua Tree, Wonder Valley, Pioneer Town, Amboy, Cadiz and Flamingo Heights.

The station is located in the County's Law and Justice Complex in Joshua Valley. This facility also houses three courtrooms as well as other County offices. There are two satellite offices in Yucca Valley and Twenty-nine Palms. They have joint law enforcement jurisdiction and authority on the Twenty-nine Palms Marine Corps Base located within the boundaries of the City of Twenty-nine Palms.

The entire building accommodates 92 personnel. This number includes the jail division which has five deputies, a corporal, and five Sheriff Custodial Specialists (SCS) booking officers.

This Type I Jail has a 75-bed capacity with a maximum stay of 96 hours.

The jail houses pretrial inmates, with the exception of four inmate workers who are housed separately.

Inmates are picked up by bus and transported to West Valley Detention Center on Monday, Wednesday and Friday.

No medical care is available on site, but prescription drugs can be dispensed. Minor or simple treatment is administered by the hospital which is about 300 yards from the jail. Inmates with serious medical injuries are transported to West Valley Detention Center.

A major problem of retaining deputy personnel is the active recruiting by nearby cities such as Beaumont. They offer attractive packages of higher pay and greater benefits, such as fully-paid medical.

Currently, the Morongo Station does not have a Sheriff/Coroner. This creates a problem because bodies of deceased persons may remain at the scenes for several hours before a coroner can arrive from San Bernardino. While there are potential deputy volunteers for coroner training, the funding is lacking. Minimal training would be for eight weeks, plus 60 hours overtime.

Most deputy shifts are 10 hours, alternating four days on for one week, then three days on the next week.

No juveniles are housed at this facility. They are cite-released or transferred to Juvenile Hall in San Bernardino.

There is very little gang activity, due to the rural environment.

FINDINGS

- 1. When the facility was built in 1984, it served a much smaller population. The area population has grown significantly. For example, one toilet, on the jail side of the main building, serves 59 males. One commercially-supplied chemical toilet is placed in the rear patrol car parking area at a cost of \$110.00 per month.
- 2. The parking lot is unsecured and also used for detective vehicles and some privately owned vehicles of judges.
- 3. The squad room and detectives' offices are housed in temporary portable buildings adjacent to the parking lot. These have been in place since about 1996. These buildings are very small.
- 4. The kitchen area is cramped and potentially a hazard.
- 5. In the jail area itself, the doors are not Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) compliant, which has resulted in at least one inmate-initiated lawsuit. In that case, jail personnel disassembled and reassembled the wheelchair which enabled the inmate to use it within the confines.
- 6. The required equipment in the Bridge is maintained, but outdated and worn. The workspace is cramped.
- 7. Throughout the areas of the jail, there is a need for security camera/recorders. Currently there are two cameras which only serve as monitors, without recording ability.

8. Officers work 10-hour shifts and often must work overtime due to needs such as court appearances. Deputies often must sleep in their cars in the unsecured parking area. This is not conducive to their being alert and rested for the danger and stress of their duties. There is a need for an area which would allow a comfortable refuge for rest.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Add one more restroom jail-side and remodel the existing one. (Finding 1) 09-55 09-56 Take steps as soon as possible to secure the parking area from public access. (Finding 2) 09-57 Include adequate fencing and gates for controlled access at either end. (Finding 2) 09-58 Update the squad room and detective area into permanent or upgraded facilities to relieve the confined space problem. (Finding 3) 09-59 Remodel or rearrange kitchen equipment. (Finding 4) Take immediate steps to bring the jail area doorways into ADA 09-60 compliance. (Finding 5) 09-61 Conduct an audit to update the Bridge equipment as well as the general work area. (Finding 6) Purchase and install a new video monitoring/recording system. (Finding 7) 09-62 09-63 Conduct a space audit to provide a refuge for commuting deputies. (Finding 8)

SAN BERNARDINO COURTHOUSE HOLDING CELL

BACKGROUND

The San Bernardino Courthouse, which houses the holding cells, was constructed in 1926. The purpose of the holding cells is to house prisoners who are awaiting their court appearances.

Two to three buses a day transport between 130-150 prisoners from other jails to these holding cells for court hearings.

Buses depart the court house at 10:30 a.m., 12:30 p.m. and 4:30 p.m.. The prisoners are returned to the jails from which they originated. No prisoners spend the night.

Before being sent to court, the prisoners are classified and are clothed appropriately to indicate their security needs. Orange jumpsuits are for the general population, red indicates high security, and green denotes prisoners segregated from the general population prisoners. Prisoners wearing blue jumpsuits are from Glen Helen and are used as janitors as needed.

There are usually four prisoners to a cell; juvenile offenders are housed separately. Female and male prisoners are housed separately and checked every 30 to 60 minutes for security. The holding facility has a staff of seven.

Deputies carry radios, pepper spray, and tasers for safety. None of the deputies are required to wear protective vests, but they are available for use.

When prisoners are transferred from the cells to courtrooms on other floors, they are secured with waist and leg chains.

FINDINGS

- 1. Between 12 and 14 secured prisoners are placed in an elevator with one deputy and taken down to the transportation area. Some prisoners are moved through public hallways in order to reach their assigned courtrooms.
- 2. The jail paint is chipped and the floors are deteriorating.
- 3. The jail is fully staffed. Some deputies are cross-trained to work in other areas of the jail.
- 4. The Sheriff Deputies handle all levels of prisoners daily. For protection they carry pepper spray, tasers and radios.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- Review the ratio of prisoners-to-guards for the purpose of escorting prisoners to and from the holding area to the courtrooms. (Finding 1)
- 09-65 Paint the upper cell area and repair deteriorating floors. (Finding 2)

TWIN PEAKS STATION

BACKGROUND

The Twin Peaks building is shared by Building and Safety, Assessor, Sheriff, including Search and Rescue, and occasionally by Agriculture.

There are three cells which are seldom used and then only for two to three hours. If an individual were to be booked, he would be taken directly to West Valley Detention Center.

The building is well-maintained and has adequate parking. The fencing in the parking area is falling down. The emergency generator is 30 years old and difficult to maintain.

Normal watch includes a minimum of two units, with more for special occasions. That total staff of 19 includes two sergeants, one lieutenant, and one captain.

Twin Peaks substation has a very active Citizens on Patrol (CoP). These are non-sworn volunteers who are "out and about" helping with visual patrol. There are 30 volunteers which also help maintain the substation.

FINDINGS

- 1. The emergency generator is 30 years old, and it is difficult to keep it running in an emergency.
- 2. Fencing in east parking lot was falling down.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- Replace emergency generator which is a vital piece of equipment and needs to be replaced or updated. (Finding 1)
- 09-67 Repair or replace fencing on the east side of the station. (Finding 2)

VICTOR VALLEY STATION

BACKGROUND

The facility was built in 1973, and it is cramped and crowded. The jail is a court holding facility with 67 beds. This is a Type 1 facility with three-man cells for 96-hour holding. There are two deputies who work the court-holding facility. There are 76 employees including 61 sworn deputies. Each deputy can cover 200 miles on each shift depending on the calls coming in. Three areas are covered with this facility: Phelan,

Victor Valley, and Lucerne Valley. Citizen-on-Patrol program is very active in the desert. There are 11 volunteer units and over 200 volunteers.

The Desert Control Center (Communications) processed 460,000 calls last year. In addition to the 911 operators, there are two Dispatch operators. The 911 operators route the calls to a dispatcher, who then relays the calls to the patrol cars. If the call center in Rialto were to shut down, all calls would be routed to the desert communication center, which would handle the load.

FINDING

1. While the station is clean and well maintained, heavy clutter from severe overcrowding was apparent. The facility is the busiest Type I Jail in the county. With bookings from 1200 to 1400 persons per month, its capacity is 67 prisoners, and is usually at maximum. Much of the station overcrowding could be alleviated by the Sheriff's Station moving to another location. Such a move would free up space for a much-needed expansion of the Control Center. These vital operator stations are cramped with aisleway navigation severely hampered by the back-to-back operator chairs.

RECOMMENDATION

09-68 Relocate to a larger building. (Finding 1)

WEST VALLEY DETENTION CENTER

BACKGROUND

The Captain of West Valley Detention Center gave the Grand Jury an over-view of this facility. The jail was built over a three-year period and opened in 1991 for 3,200 beds. It currently houses between 2,700 to 2,900 men and women. This is the primary booking facility for the County. Of the 600 employees, 261 are sworn Deputy Sheriffs; the remaining staff includes secretaries, Security Custody Assistants (SCA), Sheriff Custody Specialists (SCS), medical personnel, records staff, education staff and maintenance staff. West Valley is also a transportation hub with 13 buses and 13 vans. These vehicles are on the road most of the day transporting prisoners from one jail to another throughout the state.

The medical clinic has two physicians on duty, kidney dialysis rooms, and tuberculosis (TB) and hepatitis rooms with a reverse air duct system so disease cannot be spread. The dental clinic has the latest equipment and three dental chairs. Prisoners are transported to this facility from other County jails for medical/dental treatment.

Housing units are separate pods. Prisoners are classified at booking regarding their charges, gang affiliation, medical issues, and complete a detailed screening classification form to determine to which pod they are assigned. The main control area allows observance 24/7 of all pods and inmates only leave their pod for medical/dental issues. Inmate workers clean and polish all areas of their pod.

FINDING

1. The large area that houses the electrical generators and other related equipment does not appear to be well-secured.

RECOMMENDATION

09-69 Establish security at the rear of the facility where the power plant is located. (Finding 1)



PUBLIC & SUPPORT SERVICES COMMITTEE



Front row le t to rig t:

Robert Romero, Dr. Peter Bulza, Becki Hernandez-Powell, Sandra Shahan, Dr. Izar Martinez

Back row le t to rig t:

Rod Rupp, Ken Taylor, Patricia Swangel, Joyce P. Seeger, Samuel Ferry

PUBLIC AND SUPPORT SERVICES COMMITTEE

Public and Support Services Committee (PSS) oversees the administration and budget activities of fourteen County departments charged with providing services to the public and to other County departments.

The departments of the PSS that were reviewed are as follows:

Airports
Architecture and Engineering
County Fire
County Library
County Museum
Fleet Management
Facilities Management
County Waste Division
Real Estate Services
Registrar of Voters

The departments not reviewed are as follows:

Agriculture/Weights and Measures
Land Use Services
Building and Safety
Code Enforcement
Planning
Regional Parks
Special Districts

AIRPORTS

SUMMARY

The Grand Jury looked into apparent problems with numerous managerial staff changes and dilapidated structural conditions at some of San Bernardino County airports. Our interviews with airport personnel cleared both items to our satisfaction. The staff situation movement was reasonable, and the poor hangar structural conditions at the Needles and Daggett airports were being remedied.

However, during our investigation and interviews, we found several items of interest. One was the aftermath of the radium contamination at the Chino Airport. The Grand Jury also investigated the Master Plan and the leasing environment for that airport. The Grand Jury also investigated the protection of CSA 60 (Apple Valley Airport) County cutbacks in funding, general airport safety, and insurance costs.

BACKGROUND

Last year the Environmental Protection Agency billed the County of San Bernardino nearly \$500,000 for the 2005 clean-up of abandoned aircraft gauges. The gauges' numbers had been painted with radioactive-laced paint and were stored in four hangars at Chino Airport. Airport managers did not know if, in fact, the airport's rates had increased due to the radium incident. The Grand Jury was referred to the Office of Risk Management for more information.

The Grand Jury found that the Airport Department did not have a consistent monitoring system in place for its hangar lessees, even though management was aware that hangar lessees were notorious for accumulating hazardous materials in their leased hangars. Lessees are charged a one-month advanced rent and no security deposit. The Airport Department has not contacted County Council since the radium incident for advisement on updating lease agreements in order to counter large cleanup expenses.

Our investigation determined that airport improvements at Chino Airport would be gained from a movement from agricultural leases to a reliance on aeronauticalcentered lease and rental development. Such a move would be financially beneficial to the Department.

Complicated by several years of challenges by environmental groups, certain aspects of the 2003 Master Plan have not been fully implemented. That Master Plan was based on data from such organizations as the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). Data from SCAG has changed as much as 25% since it was used in the Master Plan. When considering worse-case scenarios, the Master Plan used data from relatively mild economic downturns, such as the recession of 1991. Forecasts of population, air traffic, development, employment and numerous other items referenced in the Master Plan are considerably outdated.

The Division of Aeronautics of Caltrans (DOA) periodically safety-inspects the County's airports. Caltrans notified the Grand Jury that its goal is to inspect each County airport annually. However, due to State budgetary problems, those inspections are much less often. According to the Division of Aeronautics, inspections are every 12 to 18 months. The Airport Department provided the results of the latest safety inspections made in 2005. A Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) runway safety inspection of the Chino Airport was performed in 2006. Thirty-eight safety related problems were noted during these inspections, and all were corrected by the Airport Department. The Airport Department does not contract for independent safety inspections of the County's airports between the periodic inspections made by the State Division of Aeronautics. Three to four years have passed since the last safety inspections at the County airports. Airport administration indicated to the Grand Jury that they expect the DOA to safety inspect the County airports in 2009. Still, a considerable amount of time has elapsed since the last inspections.

County Service Area 60 (CSA 60), the Apple Valley Airport, is a local tax-based service area consisting of 1,700 square miles of land in several high desert cities and unincorporated areas. The service area is funded by a property tax levy on businesses and residences in that area. CSA 60 contracts with San Bernardino County to provide material and personnel to operate the Apple Valley Airport. The airport receives no County General Fund money, and no money is extracted from CSA 60 to operate other County airports. Except for CSA 60's use of County operations to manage and operate the airport, no other financial arrangement has been made between the County of San Bernardino and CSA 60. Aside from the proximity of the airport to the Town of Apple Valley, there is no other relationship between the two.

FINDINGS

- 1. Lease agreements do not cover the County's expense for lessee's negligence.
- 2. The long-term financial interests of the County of San Bernardino will be better served by the Airport Department's moving from agricultural leases to an aeronautical-based development of airport-owned agricultural land.
- 3. The 2003 Master Plan is outdated.
- 4. Airport safety inspections are not being performed within the Division of Aeronautic's recommended time intervals.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- Require lessees to provide a security deposit to cover the costs of inspections, clean-up, and damage. (Finding 1)
- O9-71 Provide financing for aeronautical-based development of the 300 agricultural acres around the Chino Airport. (Finding 2)

- Review the Master Plan, update the data, consider the current economic circumstances of the County and of general aviation; then re-evaluate the assumptions to reflect current economic realities. (Finding 3)
- O9-73 Schedule the safety inspections at regular intervals to complement safety inspections performed by the Division of Aeronautics. (Finding 4)

ARROWHEAD REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER (ARMC)

BACKGROUND

The Grand Jury was given a tour of the Arrowhead Regional Medical Center (ARMC) on November 14, 2008.

FINDING

1. A 17-year ARMC custodial employee was interviewed during the Grand Jury tour of the facility. The employee was on duty wearing an indistinguishable I.D. badge. The photo section was completely faded and the name and personal section practically unreadable.

The *Administrative Operations Manual* for ARMC page two, paragraph six states: "A replacement badge will be issued at no charge for normal wear and tear." The same *Manual* section contains the Human Resource's form that the employee is required to complete in order to obtain a new badge.

RECOMMENDATION

- 09-74 Enact a policy of renewing photo I.D. badges on a periodic basis. (Finding 1)
- 09-75 Require supervisors and managers to monitor employees to ensure their wearing of current, clear, and undamaged photo I.D. badges. (Finding 1)

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

SUMMARY

The Grand Jury began its general review of the Facilities Management custodial contract procedures. In the past there had been some lack of oversight in the area of contract compliance. During the process of research, the power outage of the West Valley Detention Center in August of 2008 occurred, and was investigated by the Grand Jury, which issued an interim final report.

BACKGROUND

The Facilities Management Department is responsible for the maintenance and custodial services of County-owned and leased buildings and parking facilities. The County Facilities Management Department employs approximately 140 workers and outsources approximately 64 more.

Contract vendors that successfully bid and are awarded a contract and provide the contract workers. There are currently approximately 12 awarded contracts active for the County Facilities Management Department.

The West Valley Detention Center in Rancho Cucamonga was constructed in 1991. Facilities Management has historically been responsible for power plant operation with 24/7 coverage. This area of responsibility includes, but is not limited to, maintaining transformers, providing live voltage from Southern California Edison, and providing emergency power when needed.

FINDINGS

The Grand Jury investigated two areas of Facilities Management Department:

1. Custodial Contracts and their compliance. Four vendor contract facilities were visited. The Grand Jury found these facilities satisfactorily complied with their contracts. The Facilities Management administration was also visited. Vendor files were provided to the Grand Jury for review. All files were checked against an internal checklist and everything was in order. A visitation to the Rancho Cucamonga Courthouse did establish one finding of concern. Supplies and equipment at this location are stored and maintained in a stairwell area near the main lobby. The stairway is in constant use by courthouse staff during working hours. This storage and work area is not conducive to a safe or secure work environment. The door to the stairwell opens onto the main lobby, and cleaning solutions are stored under employee traveled stairs. Facilities Management staff did advise the Grand Jury that their operational storage area has been moved to different locations over the years under the direction of the Court.

Further investigation showed that all the contracts specify that supervisors shall carry a pager and respond when paged. However, while one vendor did use a pager, the other three employees used cell phones to contact their supervisor.

2. West Valley Detention Center power failure of August 28, 2008. The Grand Jury interim final report was previously issued. (See Ad Hoc section of this Final Report)

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-76 Take immediate steps to relocate the Facilities Management custodial supply storage area to an adequate, safe, and secure area for all county employees, contracted employees, and members of the public. (Finding 1)
- Modify vendor contracts to allow communication between employees and supervisors to include the use of either cell phones or pagers. (Finding 1)

INTERIM REPORT ON THE JOSHUA BASIN WATER DISTRICT

(Issued April 6, 2009)

BACKGROUND

On September 5, 2007, a citizen's complaint was submitted to the 2007-2008 San County Bernardino Grand Jury against the Joshua Basin Water District (JBWD). The 2007-2008 Grand Jury was unable to respond to the complaint because of time limitations and referred the complaint to the 2008-2009 Grand Jury.

The complaint made two allegations against the Joshua Basin Water District: 1) JBWD expended public money on engineering and planning studies for sewer construction in Joshua Tree prior to receiving authorization from the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO), and 2) JBWD expended public money in an attempt to purchase county tax sale property for a sewer treatment plant, but JBWD did not have authority from LAFCO to purchase property for this use.

JURISDICTION

The Grand Jury has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Penal Code Sections 933.5 and 918.

INVESTIGATION

The 2008-2009 San Bernardino County Grand Jury reviewed the allegations and the documents provided. The Grand Jury also conducted a comprehensive review of the procedures followed by the JBWD in its dealings with LAFCO to provide sewer treatment services. Documents provided by the JBWD were reviewed and a managerial employee of JBWD was interviewed.

ALLEGATION ONE

Facts

Joshua Basin Water District did expend approximately \$40,000 from November 30, 2005, to June 30, 2006, for two feasibility studies: 1) "Joshua Basin Water District Wastewater Feasibility Study" dated May 31, 2006; and 2) "Joshua Basin Package Wastewater Treatment Plant Feasibility Report" dated April 7, 2006, rev. May 23, 2006. LAFCO granted JBWD authority to provide sewer treatment services through package sewer treatment plants and to plan and engineer sewer services on August 15, 2007.

LAFCO requires agencies requesting new authority from LAFCO to include the following information with the application form:

- A statement of the nature of the proposal and the reason therefore, and shall include (but not be limited to) general plan, growth rate, topography, and economic feasibility.
- A "Plan for Service" as defined in Government Code Section 56824.12.
- A legal description and map of the territory which is the subject of the proposal.

Government Code Section 56824.12 requires:

- The total estimated cost to provide the new or different function or class of services.
- The estimated cost of the new or different function or class of service to customers.
- An identification of the existing providers and the potential fiscal impacts to the customers of the existing providers.
- A plan for financing the new or different function or class of service.
- Alternatives for the establishment of the new or different function or class of service.

Findings

JBWD made expenditures for feasibility studies that provided information required by LAFCO and state law as part of the application process for new authority. The expenditures by JBWD for the feasibility studies were reasonable and appropriate. The Grand Jury found no evidence of other expenditures by JBWD related to planning or engineering for sewer services.

ALLEGATION TWO

Facts

On April 4, 2007, the board of directors for JWBD passed a resolution requesting that JWBD be allowed to purchase a tax defaulted property for the development of a sewer treatment plant. Subsequent to the passage of the resolution, LAFCO informed JBWD that the District did not have the authority to purchase property for a sewer treatment plant prior to LAFCO's granting JBWD sewer service authority. Before the sale of the property, the property owner paid the taxes on the property and removed the property from the tax default list.

Findings

JWBD did not expend any public moneys to purchase property for a sewer treatment plant. The JWBD board of directors did not have authority from LAFCO to purchase property for a sewer treatment plant when the board of directors approved the April 4, 2007 resolution. However, the board's approval of the resolution did not materially violate any law warranting further investigation or action.

PENAL CODE SECTION 933.05 RESPONSE:

No response to the Grand Jury findings is requested from JWBD.



AD HOC COMMITTEE



Le t to rig t:

Tom Hale, Ken Taylor, John R. Saathoff

INTERIM REPORT ON THE WEST VALLEY DETENTION CENTER POWER FAILURE

(Issued April 6, 2009)

BACKGROUND

The West Valley Detention Center (WVDC) was built in 1991 and has been occupied for approximately 18 years. On September 14, 2008, the Grand Jury attended a scheduled meeting at the WVDC. During this meeting the Grand Jury was informed the WVDC suffered a major power outage on August 28, 2008, the Friday before the Labor Day holiday.

Electric service from Southern California Edison (SCE) was interrupted from 10:00 PM to midnight on August 28. According to the Sheriff's Department, power was restored at approximately midnight, August 29, 2008, but again failed for a longer duration at 6:00 AM. The two power interruptions totaled 36 hours. During this electrical outage employees of the Sheriff's Department and other San Bernardino County personnel attempted to put WVDC's electrical system back to working order.

As a result of the power interruption from SCE, three of the seven county-owned step-down transformers were rendered inoperable. Due to the failure of the three transformers, the on-site electrical generation system failed as it attempted to start. In order to restore a minimum electrical service to WVDC, the County rented two large electrical generators and a larger number of smaller generators were rented or purchased to provide lights and power for essential services. Full power to WVDC was resumed in three weeks.

San Bernardino County Facilities Management was responsible for providing the interface electrical equipment and connection between SCE and WVDC. During an October 23, 2008, meeting attended by Grand Jurors, Facilities Management personnel reported that one of the step-down transformers had failed due to an oil leak. Also, other indicators of neglect and poor maintenance were noted during the discussion. When asked if the emergency power back-up system had ever been tested, Facilities Management personnel responded that the system had been tested once, but that test had failed. The County required the use of an outside electrical contractor, and their use of a single line diagram, to analyze the power outage problem leading to the eventual restoration of electrical service to WVDC.

FINDINGS

1. Facilities Management has the responsibility for maintaining the emergency power facility at WVDC, and their staff electricians and personnel lack cohesive direction and expertise in the operation and maintenance of WVCD's emergency power system.

- 2. Emergency power back-up generators at WVDC are not routinely tested.
- 3. There is no manufacturer service or certification program for several pieces of critical electrical equipment.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-78 Shift the responsibility for the emergency electrical system at WVDC from Facilities Management to the Sheriffs Department. (Finding 1)
- 09-79 Begin a systematic process for testing the electrical equipment at the WVDC emergency power plant. (Finding 2)
- O9-80 Create a Plant Manager position at WVDC for the purpose of overseeing all electrical maintenance and testing at the facility. (Finding 1)
- O9-81 Institute a servicing and certification program for the following electrical equipment at WVDC:
 - a. Switch gear at all electrical locations.
 - b. Electrical control equipment.
 - c. Emergency generators.
 - d. Transformers.
 - e. Any other equipment required to maintain emergency back-up power to WVDC. (Finding 3)

GOVERNMENTAL REFORM



GOVERNMENTAL REFORM

The 2008-2009 Grand Jurors started their term with questions and inquires regarding ethics and integrity, immediately following being sworn in. The subject of ethics in County politics had just made the news, and there was a large public outcry. While many in the County had never heard of an Ethics Commission, just these two words in one sentence seemed to give a feeling of security. One prospective County Supervisor ran for office with the promise of creating an Ethics Commission, and he won.

With this in mind, the Grand Jury established a new section in the Grand Jury Final Report for the year 2008-2009. This section is dedicated to topics related to ethics, integrity, and county law, as well as to the very subject of ethics itself. The Governmental Reform section of the Final Report will cover Findings and Recommendations for the following:

- The Board of Supervisors
- Form 700
- Campaign Contributions
- Establishing an Ethics Commission
- 1200 acres of property in Rancho Cucamonga

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

BACKGROUND

The 2008-2009 Grand Jury Administrative Committee established a subcommittee to monitor and observe functions, activities, actions taken, and decisions made by the Board of Supervisors (Board). The committee assigned a minimum of two members to attend all regular and special Board meetings.

The Grand Jury would like to thank the Board for providing reserved seating for the Grand Jury members attending their meetings. A weekly Board meeting report was prepared for all members of the Grand Jury.

The Grand Jury has reviewed the 2007-2008 Final Report of the Grand Jury "The Assessor's Function" and the "The Investigation of County Assessor Bill Postmus – Report of Findings" released by the Board of Supervisors on May 12, 2009.

A copy of the Rule I, Code of Ethics and Commitment to County Public Service, was reviewed by the Grand Jury (See Attachment A). The code of ethics from various state, county and city governments was also studied and compared with the San Bernardino County's Code of Ethics.

Two Grand Juries have encountered instances of newly-elected County officials requesting and receiving approval from the Board of Supervisors for staff allowances. The 2008-2009 Grand Jury also witnessed the placement of start-up staff for the most recently won seat on the Board of Supervisors. Currently, staffing increases and start-up budgets for newly-elected county supervisors are based on the discretion of the Board. There are no Board polices that provide guidance on the issues of staffing and start-up budgets for newly-elected county supervisors.

FINDINGS

- 1. The current County Code of Ethics does not clearly address the abuse of office documented in the 2007-2008 Grand Jury Final Report and the "Hueston Report."
- 2. The code of ethics of other governmental entities prohibits a public official from using his/her office or position for personal gain.
- 3. The inclusion of such a prohibition would strengthen the oversight of public officials by the Grand Jury and by the proposed Ethics Commission.
- 4. There are no regulations or policy regarding staff start-up time and number of start-up staff. The current process appears arbitrary and has no governing rules. This was demonstrated at the Board meeting on August 26, 2008 by the

discussion over so-called precedents. A motion was passed by the Board allowing for the staff of Supervisor-elect Neil Derry to begin setting up his office ninety days prior to being sworn in. The Board used two very old examples to support its decision to approve Mr. Derry's request. Neither of these precedents was approximate to the time and expense of Mr. Derry's request.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-82 Amend the Code of Ethics to include a section prohibiting the use of a public office or position by a public official for personal gain. (Findings 1, 2, and 3)
- 09-83 Draft and approve a Board policy that establishes start-up time frames, staffing and budget limits, with emphasis on minimum staff until an official takes office. (Finding 4)

STREAMLINE FORM 700 -REPORTING OF GIFTS AND INCOME

BACKGROUND

San Bernardino County's Board of Supervisors has created a commendable onestop, main County internet site. In addition to reporting Board activities and other contact information on an easily accessible web link, it now has an Open Government link that provides access to financial reporting information including the Statement of Economic Interest and County Conflict of Interest Code Form 700 procedure.

A Form 700 is used to report all gifts, such as lunches, tickets, and other personal services, and also includes any outside income. Designated County officials and their executive staffs, members of County boards and commissions, and some other local public entities are required to file a Form 700 when assuming/leaving office and on an annual basis.

Due to recent well-publicized problems with Form 700 reporting, the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors has requested that the Grand Jury investigate and make recommendations to streamline the reporting procedure for Form 700.

FINDINGS

1. The current San Bernardino County's Form 700 reporting procedure utilizes the internet to aid users in posting information. This makes it much easier to fill out the form as it saves information from previous years. However, with the current

practice of filling out the form once a year, as state law requires, it is too easy for filers to forget appointments, gifts or even income received.

Form 700 was created by the California Fair Political Practices Commission, and the form itself cannot be changed. Any changes on a County level will have to be on the reporting process. In addition, the Political Reform Act requires every government agency to review its Conflict of Interest Code biennially to determine whether it should be amended. The Clerk of the Board oversees this biennial review process for designated agencies within San Bernardino County.

RECOMMENDATION

Require that all gifts and outside income be reported online, using the Form 700, within a thirty-day window instead of annually. (Finding 1)

RULE I: CODE OF ETHICS AND COMMITMENT TO COUNTY PUBLIC SERVICE

Section 1 – Purpose

This code establishes the standards of conduct required of all public officials and employees for the proper operation of County government and has the force of law. These standards are intended to strengthen public service and to maintain and promote faith and confidence of the people in their government.

Section 2 – Responsibilities of Public Office

Public officials and employees are agents of the public purpose and serve for the benefit of the public. They shall uphold and adhere to the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of California, and the Charter of the County of San Bernardino, rules, regulations and policies of the County, and shall carry out impartially the laws of the Nation, State, and County. In their official acts, they shall discharge faithfully their duties, recognizing that the public interest is paramount. All public officials and employees must demonstrate the highest standards of morality and ethics consistent with the requirements of their position and consistent with the law.

Section 3 – Dedicated Service

In the performance of their duties, all officials and employees shall support governmental objectives expressed by the electorate and interpreted by the Board of Supervisors and the County programs developed to attain these objectives. Officials and employees shall adhere to work rules and performance standards established for their positions by the appointing authority. The County requires all officials and employees to use good manners, to be considerate, to be accurate and truthful in statement and to exercise sound judgment in the performance of their work. During the hours covered by active County employment, no official or employee shall work for any other employer or agency and neither conduct nor pursue any unauthorized activity for remuneration. Officials and employees shall neither exceed their authority nor breach the law nor ask others to do so. They shall work in full cooperation with other public officials and employees unless prohibited from so doing by law or by officially recognized confidentiality of the work.

Section 4 – Nondiscrimination

No official or employee shall grant any special consideration, treatment, or advantage to any person beyond that which is available to every other person in similar circumstance. No person shall be favored or discriminated against with respect to any appointment in the County service because of family or social relationships, sex, race, religion, national origin, marital status, age, physical handicap, political opinion or political affiliation.

Section 5 – Oath of Allegiance

Pursuant to State law, all officials and employees must execute an Oath of Allegiance as follows: "I, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and defend the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California against all enemies, foreign and domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California; that I take this obligation

freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I will well and faithfully discharge the duties upon which I am about to enter."

Section 6 – Confidential Information

As appropriate, every appointing authority shall make known to subordinates which information is regarded as confidential. No official or employee shall neither disclose such confidential information except as authorized or required by law or office nor otherwise use such information for personal gain or benefit. All personnel records shall be confidential except when disclosure is required by law.

Section 7 – Use of Public Property

Officials and employees are prohibited from using County-owned equipment, materials, or property for personal benefit or profit unless specifically authorized by the Board of Supervisors as an element of compensation.

Section 8 – Conflict of Interest

No official or employee shall engage in any business or transaction or shall have a financial or other personal interest or association, which is in conflict with the proper discharge of official duties or would tend to impair independence of judgment or action in the performance of official duties. Personal as distinguished from financial interest includes an interest arising from blood or marriage relationships or close business, personal, or political association. This section shall not serve to prohibit independent acts or other forms of enterprise during those hours not covered by active County employment providing such acts do not constitute a conflict of interest as defined herein. An employee is also subject to applicable provisions of the California Government Code, including but not limited to Sections 1090, 1126, 87100, and/or any other conflict of interest Code, policy or rule applicable to County employment.

Section 9 – Political Activity

It is the intent of the Board of Supervisors that every County employee participates in the political process to the extent that such participation does not interfere with the orderly performance of County employees' duties and functions. The provisions of California State Government Code 3201-3205 and 3302 and any future amendments thereto are hereby incorporated as part of this Rule. Employees engaged in political activity in violation of any personnel rule, County policy, labor contract, or regulation governing the conduct of County employees shall constitute cause for disciplinary action.

Section 10 – County/Employee Responsibility

The County shall provide all employees appointed to a regular classified or unclassified position with the County, with a copy of these Rules. It shall be the responsibility of employees to become aware and knowledgeable of these Rules.

Section 11 – Delegation of Approval

Any action which requires the approval of the Director of Human Resources may be taken by a Human Resources employee who has been delegated that responsibility in writing by the Director of Human Resources.

CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS

BACKGROUND

The 2008-2009 San Bernardino Grand Jury has reviewed campaign contributions made to elected and appointed officials in the County of San Bernardino during the past five years. Data available at the Registrar of Voters reveal that Board of Supervisors and other elected officials in San Bernardino County have raised hundreds of thousands of dollars to finance their campaigns. For example, during the 2007 calendar year, more than \$2.3 million was contributed to the five San Bernardino County Supervisors. Contributions, ranging from a modest \$200 to \$400,000, were made by individuals, special interest groups, land developers, businesses, employee associations, and others.

Political science literature indicates that contributors tend to support candidates with whom they are already in agreement. However, when large sums of money are contributed to a candidate, the public perception is that the donor expects some favor in return. Also, many citizens equate campaign financing with corruption and bribery. It is possible that individuals and/or organizations that contribute large sums of money to an elected official's campaign have better access to that official than those who do not contribute. Better access may not necessarily guarantee favorable results, but it may allow an individual and/or organization to make its point and promote special interests.

Incumbent officials have contended that a limit on campaign contributions will result in only rich individuals running for elected office. Others claim that the current fund-raising requirements discourage many individuals from entering the election process. Additionally, other incumbent officials believe that none of this matters because the public can access all contribution information, thus keeping an eye on officials and holding them accountable by good conscience.

The reality is that attempting to obtain such information from the Registrar of Voters and from the many Political Action Committees (PAC) is a complex task. Countless ordinary citizens lack access both to computers and to the technological knowledge necessary to obtain such information. Limiting campaign contributions and spending limits puts campaigns within the reach of ordinary citizens. Under the current "no limit" campaign contribution system, ordinary citizens are, to some extent, denied entry into the political processes.

During the past three years, media reports have been replete with accounts of investigations of unethical behavior by county officials and the suggested influence by special interest groups through their monetary contributions. Recent arrests of County officials have harmed the reputation of the County. Such behavior of elected officials communicates to ordinary citizens that a culture of corruption exists in the County.

The solution to the problem of excessive campaign contributions does not lie with elected or appointed officials or with those who may seek such offices. The problem lies

with the lack of reasonable regulations of large contributions from various sources by which such candidates are allowed to finance their campaigns. Changing the rules by placing a reasonable limit on contributions made by special interest groups and/or individuals will help to restore the public trust of elected and appointed County officials.

The Grand Jury investigated several state, county and national ethics commissions. Some commissions have worked, and a few have established successful guidelines for campaign contributions. Two of the more successful commissions are those of the City of Los Angeles and Ventura County.

FINDINGS

- 1. The County of San Bernardino has no contribution limits for candidates running for County office.
- 2. California State Law only sets minimum requirements and restrictions for campaign financing. Basically the requirement is limited to disclosure.
- 3. In California, 13 counties and 98 cities have enacted campaign finance reform laws.
- 4. Proposition 208, approved by voters in 1996, allowed most donors to give no more than \$240 per election to candidates for local offices and the Legislature, and \$500 for election of state-wide candidates. However, in 1998, a federal judge struck down the limits, ruling they were too stringent to allow the typical candidate to communicate with voters. In 2000, voters approved Proposition 34 that placed campaign limits on statewide officers, but was silent on local election contributions.
- 5. Campaign contributions made to Supervisors and other candidates for County office have been in excess of \$2.2 million in each of the past five years. During this same period, Supervisors and six County elected officials received a total of \$13,297,197 in contributions from individuals and special interest groups.

RECOMMENDATION

09-85 Enact County ordinance setting a cap on campaign contributions to a candidate's campaign committee by individuals, corporations, PACs, employees unions and other non-individual contributors. (Findings 1, 2, 3, 4, 5)

ETHICS COMMISSION

BACKGROUND

One of the first topics of interest the 2008-2009 San Bernardino County Grand Jury entertained was that of the establishment of an Ethics Commission for this County. We looked at the mechanics of the three major ethics commissions in California, California's Fair Political Practices Commission, and numerous other state and municipal ethics commissions including the cities of Los Angeles, San Diego and San Francisco. Some of these commissions work quite well, some not.

FACTS

Currently, San Bernardino County maintains two ethics-oriented organizations.

San Bernardino County District Attorney Michael A. Ramos campaigned on the issue of restoring public integrity to San Bernardino County. Within the first four months after being elected, Mr. Ramos fulfilled his promise to the electorate, and in 2003 created the Public Integrity Unit. The Unit, which is comprised of two attorneys, three investigators and a secretary, handles complaints involving those people holding public office. Some types of issues might involve the following: the illegal use of campaign funds, residency violations, and open meeting/Brown Act violations. The Unit is responsible for monitoring City Councils, elected Boards, and Commissions.

The San Bernardino County Office of Compliance & Ethics works under the direction of AB1234 which the Governor signed on October 7, 2005. This law requires that all local agencies that provide compensation, salary, or stipend to, or reimburse the expenses of members of a legislative body must provide ethics training to local agency officials by January 1, 2007, and every two years thereafter. Among many other responsibilities, the Office of Compliance & Ethics provides ethics training to all County employees.

Although both of these organizations provide a valuable service to the County, ethics issues among the County's elected officials, their staffs and other appointed officials continue. The District Attorney's Public Integrity Unit was created by the current District Attorney in 2003. This Unit is not permanent and may not be carried on by future District Attorneys. The Office of Compliance & Ethics is basically a training and informational department. Neither of these organizations is tasked with the responsibility of monitoring improper, but not necessarily illegal behavior by the County's elected officials, their staffs, or appointees.

FINDINGS

1. The Board of Supervisors has expressed a desire to establish an ethics commission. The Board's efforts are currently ongoing.

- 2. The selection of unbiased and independent ethics board commissioners is the most important and controversial aspect of creating an ethics commission.
- 3. Other counties and municipalities have tried various methods of commissioner selection. For example, a panel of three Superior Court Judges selects the ethics commissioners from a qualified pool of applicants.

COMMENDATION

The Grand Jury commends the County Supervisors for their desire to establish an ethics commission. The Grand Jury supports the Board of Supervisors' efforts to establish an effective and independent ethics commission.

RECOMMENDATION

O9-86 Establish a credible selection process for members of the ethics commission that is untainted by political influences and biases. Such a selection process must result in an independent ethics commission. (Findings 1, 2, 3)

1200 ACRES/SURPLUS LAND SALE IN RANCHO CUCAMONGA

BACKGROUND

On June 7, 2008, the Board of Supervisors (Board) approved a project concept for 1200 acres of County Flood Control District (FCD) property deemed surplus property. This surplus flood control land is one of the last large undeveloped parcels in the Inland Valley. A portion of this property is located within the City of Rancho Cucamonga (City) and the rest in the San Bernardino County (County). This includes 385 acres of mitigated land. Also, all 1200 acres are within the City's sphere of influence.

Under the project concept, the County would enter into an Option to Purchase Agreement with FCD to purchase the property at an appraised market value. According to the County, the FCD would receive fair market value for the property, "receiving periodic option payments" and ultimately the entire agreed upon purchase amount from the County.

Once the County had acquired the property, the project concept proposed that the County enter into a Cooperative Agreement (Agreement) with the City to plan jointly for development of the area. Under the Agreement, the City in cooperation with the County would finalize and issue a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) to interested developers for two sub-areas described as "Area A" and "Area B." In the agreement, the City would hold public hearings and recommend the two "best qualified" developers, in order of preference, to the Board for final consideration for each sub-area, or one developer for both.

The Board may approve or reject the City's recommended candidates. If the Board rejects both of the City's recommended candidates for either or both sub-areas, the Board may then select any other developer. The County or the City may also cancel the Agreement with a 30-day notice.

Upon the Board's approval of the City's recommendation, the County must promptly enter into negotiations with the selected developer for a development agreement, which must be brought back to the Board for consideration and approval.

Six developers submitted RFQs. These developers were Rancho Alliance Investors, LLC, Foremost Communities, K & K Developers, Richland Communities, Brookfield Homes and Toll Brothers. According to the Board, the Rancho Alliance Investors includes the following: Lewis Group of Companies, Diversified Pacific, Young Homes, and Shea Homes. Jeff Burum is founder and member of Diversified Pacific and also a co-managing member of Colonies Partner.

After the issuance of the "Hueston Report" which investigated wrongdoing within the Assessor's Office and the filing of civil lawsuits against former assessor Bill Postmus and Rancho Cucamonga Councilmember Rex Gutierrez, among other former Assessor's Office employees, the Board on May 19, 2009, terminated the Agreement with the City and the option agreement with FCD.

FINDINGS

- 1. This project has been terminated by the Board of Supervisors. The 2008-2009 Grand Jury received several complaints from citizens requesting that it initiate an investigation. The Grand Jury created a special committee and conducted confidential interviews with County and City staff and elected officials who were involved in this selection process.
- 2. During the 2006 lawsuit involving the County and Colonies Partners, the 1200 acres of property were discussed as part of the settlement negotiations.
- 3. In a "Talking Points" document distributed by the County to officials involved in the process, officials were to respond to the question "What does the County expect to gain from this sale?" They were told that the answer should be "By purchasing the 1200 acres property from the Flood Control District, the County will provide funding for a number of vital flood control projects in the County's west end." However, a report to the Board of Supervisors states, "The value of the property is estimated to be in the range of \$50 to 80 million and this could be used to pay down most or all of the outstanding debt settlement the District incurred as a result of The Colonies case."

The FCD is obligated to pay \$7 million per year on the bonds issued to pay the Colonies settlement. The number of flood control projects to be funded by the sale of the 1200 acres is unknown and dependent on future Board decisions regarding allocation of proceeds between flood control projects and pay down of FCD bond indebtedness.

- 4. San Bernardino County surplus property is sold according to the following procedure:
 - The Board declares the land to be surplus
 - The land is appraised and the appraised value is used to establish a minimum bid
 - A public auction is held at a time and date decided upon by Board resolution
 - The land is advertised for not less than 30 days and up to six months depending on the size of the property
 - An auction is held and the property is sold to the highest bidder

The auction is standard procedure in San Bernardino County and other counties when selling surplus real property.

- 5. The Cooperative Agreement requires the County to enter into a development agreement with the selected developer, but leaves the critical issue of the sale price unanswered. First, the sale price of the property will be negotiated by the Board in closed session and will not be subject to public scrutiny or oversight. Second, the appraised value of the property is uncertain and subject to a broad range of valuation. The Grand Jury has received different information on how and when the property would have been appraised. For example in 2005 it was estimated that the property "was worth more than \$100 million." A recent unofficial estimate by the County reflected the property would likely sell somewhere near the lower end of \$37.5 million to \$75 million.
- 6. According to the "Hueston Report," Jeff Burum, whose Rancho Alliance Group is competing to develop the surplus property, had intervened twice on behalf of Rancho Cucamonga Councilman Rex Gutierrez's employment with the Assessor's Office; when Rex Gutierrez was first hired with the Assessor's office and when his position was extended for a number of months. After leaving the Assessor's Office, Rex Gutierrez was hired by the Economic Development Department on January 5, 2009, as an economic development specialist. The Grand Jury has documented that before Rex Gutierrez was hired by that department, Jeff Burum called an individual within the Economic Development department and discussed Rex Gutierrez and the specialist position.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- O9-87 Support the Board of Supervisors' action of terminating the option purchase agreement with the Flood Control District and the cooperative agreement with the City of Rancho Cucamonga. (Finding 1)
- O9-88 Dispose of the flood control property in the future utilizing the established County auction procedure. (Finding 4)
- O9-89 Refer issue of whether the activities of Jeff Burum on behalf of Councilmember Rex Gutierrez create a bias and conflict of interest requiring the councilmember to recuse himself from the developer selection process to the City of Rancho Cucamonga City Council and City Attorney. (Finding 6)